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 Revenue up 57% to £29.6 million
 Adjusted EBITDA* up 39% to £13.3 million
 Adjusted profit before tax* up 35% to £12.6 million (2007: £9.3 million)
 Operating profit up 32% to £11.1 (2007: £8.4 million)
 Profit before tax up 35% to £11.5 million (2007: £8.6 million)
 Total dividend rises by 69% to 11.0p per share (2007: 6.5p) 
 Record level of account openings 
 Spread betting client funds up 44% to £24.2 million (2007: £16.8 million)
 Spread betting trade volumes up 112% to 0.4 million (2007: 0.2 million)
 Investment in IT and launch of new platforms
 Successful launch of two additional international white labels
  Foreign exchange average quarterly trade volumes up 31% to US$97 billion  
(2007: US$74 billion)

 Successful acquisition of FuturesBetting.com
 Strong customer wins continue into 2009

*As defined in note 4 and applied consistently hereafter

Year ended
31 Dec 2008

£ million

Year ended  
31 Dec 2007

£ million
Growth

%

Revenue 29.6 18.9 57

Adjusted EBITDA 13.3 9.6 39

Adjusted profit before tax 12.6 9.3 34

Profit before tax 11.5 8.6 34

Basic earnings pence per share 21.18 15.69 34

Diluted earnings pence per share 20.38 14.89 37

Adjusted basic earnings pence per share 23.07 17.04 35

Final dividend pence per share 8.50 5.25 62

Total dividend pence per share 11.00 6.50 69

Highlights
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The results reflect both the 
excellent teamwork and dedicated 
commitment of all our employees, to 
whom I extend my congratulations.
Richard Davey, Chairman



Who we are
London Capital Group Holdings plc is 
the holding company of London Capital 
Group Ltd (LCG) which is authorised 
and regulated by the Financial Services 
Authority (FSA).

The company provides spread betting services 
to retail clients and professional traders, operates 
a leading foreign exchange platform and an 
institutional broking division and also works in 
partnership with a number of leading corporates  
to develop white-labelled spread betting offerings. 

  Capital Spreads is a leading provider of online 
financial spread betting solutions, giving private 
customers access to a broad range of financial 
markets, with low margin requirements and  
tight spreads.

  For professional traders, FuturesBetting.com 
provides a fast and reliable means of spread 
betting on major indices, currencies and 
commodities using Direct Market Access (DMA).

  Our Forex services offer access to a choice of 
multibank portals for institutions and  
professional traders.

  Our Derivatives division provides execution 
services on index, fixed income and single  
equity products.

  LCG’s expertise in developing white-label online 
spread betting solutions means that we supply 
our services to a number of leading international 
brands including E*TRADE, Paddy Power, Saxo 
Bank, and TradeFair. 

Our history

LCG was founded in London in 1996 as a 
proprietary trading business.  In 2002 it commenced 
trading as an institutional broker concentrating on 
the inter-bank futures market. In 2003 the company 
was restructured under the current management 
team and its spread betting division, Capital 
Spreads, was launched.

2005 saw the launch of our institutional Forex 
operations and the divestment of the proprietary 
trading business. Following a management buyout 
in the same year, LCG Holdings was floated on AIM 
in December 2005 and has enjoyed strong growth 
and development to become one of the leading 
companies in its field. In 2008, LCG expanded 
its professional investor customer base with the 
acquisition of FuturesBetting.com, the Gibraltar-
based spread betting company.
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We have made substantial 
investments in infrastructure, 
people and training over the year.

Frank Chapman, Chief Executive Officer

7



Chairman’s Statement

The Group’s main businesses continue to perform 
well resulting in an increase in revenues of 57% 
to £29.6 million compared to 2007. Adjusted 
profit before tax rose by 35% to £12.6 million and 
adjusted EBITDA also increased by 39% to £13.3 
million. Operating profit was also up 32% to £11.1 
million (2007: £8.4 million) and profit before tax up 
35% to £11.5 million (2007: £8.6 million).

Both the adjusted profit before tax and the 
adjusted EBITDA are stated before recognising total 
expense of £1.0 million which represents the share 
option charge for the year, the comparable figure in 
2007 being £0.7 million.

Based on the performance of the business, the 
Board believes it is appropriate that the Group 
pays a final ordinary dividend of 8.50p per share 
amounting to some £3.3 million. This together with 
the interim dividend already paid in September 
2008 of 2.50p per share, gives a total dividend of 
11.00p per share for the full year amounting to £4.3 
million. We plan to pay the final dividend on 28 April 
2009 to shareholders on the register at 27 March 
2009. The payment will follow approval of the final 
dividend at the Annual General Meeting to be held 
on 22 April 2009.

The Group’s policy is to pay a sustainable  
flow of ordinary dividends out of recurring profits 
which reflect the earnings, cash flow and potential  
of the Group. 

Under the oversight of the Group Risk 
Committee, internal day-to-day risk management 
of the Group is led by COO Simon Denham, with 
support from CEO Frank Chapman. Both Simon and 
Frank come from a trading background and are well 

placed to assess risk. The Executive Board meets 
regularly to discuss and manage the operational 
and financial risks of the Group. These include, 
(amongst other financial risks) liquidity levels, overall 
trading limits and financial parameters in hedging 
policy. Any risk concerns identified are reported 
to the Group Risk Committee with an assessment 
of the implications and a recommendation for 
mitigation. The Group Risk Committee is chaired 
by non-executive director, Jack Inglis. Strong 
emphasis is placed on risk control and mitigation 
across each division and the Group as a whole. The 
risk management software systems are specifically 
designed to prevent the accrual of client debt via 
its mandatory stop-loss policy and credit is not 
offered to clients. This has led to minimal bad debts 
(£87,000) across all Group divisions in 2008. 

The Group has achieved a great deal during 
a difficult year for the financial sector and the 
Board remains confident of the Group’s future 
prospects. The Group will continue to seek out new 
opportunities to grow our business both organically 
and by joint venture or acquisition. 

Whilst we recognise that economic conditions 
are extremely difficult and are likely to remain so 
for some time, we remain confident of the Group’s 
ability to continue to grow.

Richard Davey, Chairman  
17 February 2009

London Capital Group Holdings plc (hereafter also “the Company” or “the 
Group” or “London Capital Group” or “LCG”) has delivered another strong set 
of results for 2008 despite unprecedented market conditions. The results 
reflect both the excellent teamwork and dedicated commitment of all our 
employees, to whom I extend my congratulations.
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We have achieved a great deal 
during the year of which we are 
proud and we remain confident  
of the Group’s future prospects.
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Chief Executive’s Statement

Spread Betting

Despite the economic gloom, trading conditions 
have been kind to us. We have substantially 
increased the platform capacity of our spread 
betting businesses and the systems performed 
exceptionally well with record volumes being 
recorded over the year, most notably in October 
when volatility and trading volumes were at their 
highest, culminating in the spread betting division 
taking over 800,000 trades in the month. 

Our financial spread betting business continues 
to expand rapidly. The overall number of live 
accounts has grown significantly and we have 
launched two additional international White Labels, 
one into Germany and another into Denmark. 

We will launch a new site into Spain in Q1’09 and 
have recently launched a major new White Label 
partnership with Saxo Bank who have an extensive 
global reach.

We have devoted significant resource to our 
White Label partners and have also maintained 
the growth of our own Capital Spreads brand. LCG 
continues to be competitve by offering tight spreads 
combined with very low margin requirements and, 
as a result, we have seen sustained growth in total 
client numbers for our own Capital Spreads brand 
and our White Label offerings. 

During the second half of the year, the spread 
betting division launched two new trading platforms 
(via two of our existing White Label brands). Both 
platforms are highly scalable, offer an enhanced 

front end and a greater breadth of functionality. 
In addition to this, we have launched one of the 
platforms as a multi-lingual solution into Germany 
and plan to launch more multi-lingual sites in 2009. 
LCG will implement a rolling upgrade of all its spread 
betting websites to these new trading platforms in 
the first half of 2009.

We use a number of KPIs in spread betting to 
monitor the success and quality of our spreads 
business operations.  These are tabled below.

In May, LCG completed the successful acquisition 
of FuturesBetting.com (FBc). FBc is authorised and 
regulated by the Financial Services Commission 
(FSC) in Gibraltar and offers a DMA (direct market 
access) professional financial spread betting solution 
to experienced traders. This complements the 
Capital Spreads platform and gives the Group wider 
appeal to all types of potential customers. The new 
business has integrated well and is showing strong 
signs of growth in client activity and revenue. In 
November and December 2008, FBc achieved record 
returns and the business is expected to become 
profitable in Q1 ’09, which is substantially ahead 
of our initial acquisition targets. The acquisition 
also provided LCG with both a gaming and spread 
betting licence to operate from Gibraltar.

Binaries

Binary betting is a hybrid of spread and fixed  
odds betting. We have an active binary platform 
within our spread betting site and are developing 
this offering through our own brand and with 
external partners.  

Forex

The FX division has enjoyed another year of growth. 
Volumes for the second half were almost 50% 
higher than the corresponding period in 2007 and 
the business achieved new records of turnover in 
both September and October. The net contribution 
of the FX division to the Group’s profit increased 
by 21% in 2008. The FX division primarily attracts 
clients by word of mouth and recommendation and 
has now signed up approximately 400 institutional 
and professional clients rising from a level of 240 in 
2007, of which 215 are active clients compared to 
105 in 2007. 

The FX team has delivered another excellent 
performance during 2008 with an average quarterly 
volume of US$97 billion (2007: US$74 billion). The 
number of annual trades also increased significantly 
to 465,000 compared to 210,000 in 2007. This has 
resulted in an improvement in the profitability of the 
division. Trading turnover has risen to US$115 billion 
in the fourth quarter of 2008 compared to US$75 
billion in the same quarter in 2007.

The FX division’s model is purely agency broking, 
taking commission only on trades from professional 
clients on electronic trading platforms. We expect 
the division to increase client numbers by focusing 
on its provision of exceptional customer service, 
deep liquidity and fractional pricing. It continues 
to consolidate its relationships with liquidity and 
software providers.

2008 was another excellent year for London Capital Group. We have achieved 
growth across all of our main businesses resulting in increased revenues, profit, 
earnings per share and dividends. We also continue to be cash generative.
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Spread Betting KPI’s (excluding FBc) 2008 2007

Number of live accounts 33,560 19,125

New client acquisitions 14,430 10,417

Average number of trades per day 20,967 9,858

Average value per trade £4.20 £5.31

% Active (in last 3 months) 35.6% 37.3%

The Group’s overall strategy 
is to continue building an 
international on-line trading 
and broking business.
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Frank Chapman, Chief Executive Officer



Derivatives

The Derivatives division has in 2008 delivered 
trading volumes of 2.5 million lots of futures and 
options versus 2.7 million lots in 2007. We expect 
that 2009 will be a difficult year for our customers 
with a very low interest rate environment not 
being conducive to risk taking. However, with rates 
reaching their lows and stimulus packages coming 
into play, we expect volatility to increase. This, 
together with some substantial new customer wins 
should place us in a good position to take advantage 
of any turnaround in the markets.

Branding

We have conducted a brand strategy exercise 
concentrating on raising the profile and awareness 
of London Capital Group which still remains relatively 
unknown when compared with our spread betting 
brand, Capital Spreads.

The branding exercise resulted in a redesign of 
the London Capital Group identity and a refresh of 
Capital Spreads. We intend rolling this out to our 
other divisions during 2009. The new identity gives 
the business a more distinctive look and will stand us 
in good stead for the future.

Our first expression of the refreshed brand for 
Capital Spreads was launched with our Q4 press 
and TV campaign and a new look website. The new 
campaign has achieved positive results.  

The brand identity work will continue in 2009 as 
we work to raise the profile of LCG.

Employees

The success of our business is largely dependent on 
the way the Group operates its trading platforms 
and the consistent, reliable service we provide to 
our customers. Each of these operations is achieved 
and delivered by our invaluable employees. The 
average organisation head count has increased by 

14% in 2008 to 48 employees (2007: 42) and we 
have now built a unique, talented, hard working and 
personable team who are a great credit to both 
themselves and the Group. 

We have made substantial investments in 
infrastructure, people and training over the year. 
As the organisation grows we have adopted more 
formal and segmented management programmes. 
Capital expenditure has risen and staff numbers 
have grown in line with the increase in trade volumes 
and customer acquisition. We have recently leased 
additional office space at our head office in Appold 
Street on favourable terms, which will allow us to 
expand the business more comfortably.

On behalf of the Board, I would like to thank all 
our employees for their dedication, commitment 
and professionalism during a period of considerable 
growth and development during the year.

Risk Management

We continue to practise strict risk management 
controls which, together with our policies of not 
offering credit and the placing of automatic stop 
losses on all spread betting client positions, has 
meant minimal client bad and doubtful debts across 
all Group divisions of only £87,000 in 2008 (2007: 
£7,000) despite the extremely volatile conditions 
experienced during the year. We have margin risk in 
the foreign exchange division, which is very carefully 
monitored on a continuous basis and which has not 
experienced any bad debts during the year. 

Strategy

The Group’s overall strategy is to continue building 
an international on-line trading and broking 
business. We aim to achieve this through a variety 
of means, whether via White Label partnerships, 
joint ventures, setting up our own offices in different 
jurisdictions or in specific cases, by acquisition  
(such as the opportunity to acquire FBc in Gibraltar). 

Our low cost business model and the scalability of 
our platforms mean that we can continue to be more 
competitive. In addition, we are continuing to invest 
in IT and our plans for 2009 include establishing a 
CFD (Contracts for Difference) platform. This will 
enable us to operate in jurisdictions where these 
instruments are the vehicle of choice for investors 
and where our competitors are already active. 

It remains the Group’s policy not to accept bets 
from US resident citizens. 

Current Trading and Outlook

Obviously we are fully aware of the problems 
confronting the world economy and it is difficult 
to argue that LCG should be immune from these. 
However, trading since the year end continues to 
be robust across all our main businesses and we are 
encouraged by the strength of new client acquisition 
rates since the start of 2009. While it is difficult to 
predict how the year will unfold, particularly in our 
business where there is no forward order book on 
which to rely, the early signs are encouraging and 
indicate another year of expansion. We remain debt 
free and cash generative and expect some good 
opportunities to present themselves during 2009 as 
other businesses retrench.

Frank Chapman, Chief Executive Officer  
17 February 2009
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Group Finance Director’s Review

Adjusted profit before tax rose by 34% to £12.6 
million in 2008 from £9.3 million in the previous 
year. Adjusted EBITDA increased by 39% to £13.3 
million (2007: £9.6 million). Operating profit was 
also up 32% to £11.1 million (2007: £8.4 million) 
and profit before tax up 35% to £11.5 million  
(2007: £8.6 million).

The above adjusted profit before tax of £12.6 
million is after recognising the post acquisition 
trading losses for Futuresbetting.com of £0.6 million.

Both the adjusted profit before tax and the 
adjusted EBITDA are stated before recognising an 
expense of £1.0 million (2007 £0.7 million) relating 
to the share option reserve. 

The adjusted EBITDA margin was 45%, down 
from 51% in 2007 and represents adjusted EBITDA 
as a percentage of turnover. 

We are again pleased to report the Group had 
no debt at the year end, as in previous years, and 
had cash resources of £14.02 million up from 
£10.28 million in 2007. This is after allowing for 
normal business running costs, capital expenditure, 
dividends and corporation tax. This demonstrates a 
high conversion rate of profit into cash.

Basic earnings per share also increased by 34% 
to 21.18p (2007: 15.69p).

Both the Forex and the Derivatives divisions are 
operated under a profit share arrangement with 
managers who head up each division. As a result 
the profit generated after costs is shared and the 
operating profit is stated after the deduction of  
such profit share.

Going Concern

The directors have acknowledged the latest 
guidance on going concern. Whilst the current 
volatility in financial markets has created general 
uncertainty, the Group has considerable financial 
resources and no external debt. As a consequence, 
the directors believe that the Group is well placed 
to manage its business risks successfully despite the 
current uncertain economic outlook.
After making due enquiries, the directors have 
a reasonable expectation that the Group has 
adequate resources to continue in operational 
existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason 
they continue to adopt the going concern basis in 
preparing the financial statements.

In 2008, demand for the Group’s services continued to grow and this had a 
positive impact on the Group’s financial performance. 
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I am confident the  
group will remain  
cash generative

Financial Risk Management

Liquidity Risk Management

The Group has built an appropriate risk management 
framework for the management of the Group’s 
funds. The Group has implemented policies that 
require appropriate checks on existing and potential 
banks to be performed before funds are deposited 
with them. Rigorous procedures have been put 
in place to try and ensure the Group’s funds are 
deposited with a number of sound institutions and 
there is limited concentration risk. I am pleased to 
report the Group had no exposure to any of the 
financial institutions that collapsed during 2008.

Interest Rate Risk Management

As the Group is debt free there are no incidental 
interest charges. However, the Group does earn 
interest on both its own cash and on client funds 
held on deposit. The latter is included in the revenue 
and while rates remain low, this income is unlikely to 
be a significant contributor to Group profit. 

Foreign Currency Risk Management

The Group faces currency exposures on the 
translation of its trading revenues. Given a 
proportion of the Group’s revenues are generated 
in foreign currencies (mainly USD, Euros), the 
strengthening of these currencies has given rise to 
a foreign exchange gain of £0.9 million (2007: loss 
of £0.07 million) which is reflected in the Group 
revenue. The Group has a policy to hedge these 
exposures on an ongoing basis.

Bad Debts

The risk management software systems which we 
operate are specifically designed to prevent the 
accrual of client debt via mandatory stop-loss policy 
and credit is not offered to clients. This has led 
to minimal bad debts (£87,000) across all Group 
divisions in 2008.

Group Cash Flow

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of 2008 were 
£57.29 million (2007: £46.13 million), an increase 
of £11.1 million. This increase mainly arises from the 
total client money held of £44.66 million at the end 
of 2008 (2007: £35.81 million).   

The Group has invested net cash of £2.7 million 
during 2008 (2007: £1.9 million). The majority 
of this amount (circa £2.5 million) relates to IT, 
software costs and works in respect of the new and 
upgraded trading platforms, including a sum of £0.2 
million invested in a new foreign exchange back 
office risk management system. 

Balance Sheet

The Group’s intangible assets of £14.47 million 
(2007: £11.83 million) include goodwill of £0.7 
million arising on the acquisition of FBc in 2008.  
The carrying value of the FBc goodwill has been 
reviewed as at 31 December 2008 with no 
requirement for impairment.
Current trade and other payables have increased to 
£48.3 million (2007: £39.5 million). This is primarily 
due to an increase of £8.8 million in client funds.

Financial Outlook

2009 has started well for the Group with continuing 
growth across our main businesses against the 
backdrop of unpredictable and testing global 
economic conditions. I am confident the Group 
will remain cash generative and profitable with the 
added bonus of no debt. With regard to overheads, 
we intend to maintain these at a low level as we 
continue to expand. We will maintain cash resources 
to take advantage of any market opportunities.
Based on the strength of our business model and 
my comments above, I remain confident about the 
financial outlook for the business. 

Raj Gandhi, Group Finance Director  
17 February 2009
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Board of Directors
Frank Chapman 
Chief Executive Officer (Age 58)

Frank joined the Board in October 2003 and was 
appointed Managing Director in May 2004. He has 
over 30 years’ experience in the London derivative 
and FX markets, having previously been a director 
or managing director of a number of companies 
including London Investment Trust, Baring Securities, 
Deutsche Morgan Grenfell and Amerex Petroleum.

Simon Denham 
Chief Operating Officer (Age 47)

Co-founder of Capital Spreads, Simon joined the 
group in March 2003. He has extensive experience 
of building and running derivatives businesses and in 
the practical application of derivative pricing and risk 
models. Simon previously built and ran the options 
models for both Cantor Index and Christiana Bank.

Rachel Woodford 
Sales and Marketing Director (Age 39)

Rachel has over ten years’ experience of the spread 
betting arena covering sales, marketing and product 
launches. She joined the group in October 2003 and 
was a co-founder of Capital Spreads. Previously, she 
was marketing manager for Cantor Index, having 
started her spread betting career at City Index.

Raj Gandhi 
Finance Director (Age 47)

Raj is a fellow of the Association of Chartered 
Certified Accountants and a member of the 
Association of Corporate Treasurers. He joined  
the Board in November 2006 from Royal Dutch  
Shell where over a period of five years, he had  
been successively a Business Analyst in Group 
Reporting and Global Audit Manager for treasury 
and trading activities.

Richard Davey 
Non-executive Chairman (Age 60)

Richard spent much of his business career at N M 
Rothschild & Sons Limited from which he retired 
as Head of Investment Banking and Chairman 
of the Executive Committee in 1999. He was 
originally with Slater Walker, from where he moved 
to Rothschilds in 1977. He then spent periods as 
President of Exco International Inc. and Director of 
Finance for Exco International plc, as well as Head 
of European Mergers and Acquisitions at Merrill 
Lynch International Limited, before returning to 
Rothschilds in 1989. He is currently Vice Chairman 
of Yorkshire Building Society and a non-executive 
director of Amlin plc and Severn Trent plc where he is 
also senior independent director.

Jack Inglis 
Non-executive Director (Age 47)

Jack joined the Board in March 2007. He is currently 
Chief Executive of Ferox Capital Management 
Limited, a London based investment management 
company. Previously he had a 15-year career at 
Morgan Stanley & Co International in London, where 
he occupied a number of senior roles as a Managing 
Director including Head of Prime Brokerage and 
Head of Convertible Securities. Jack began his career 
at HSBC/James Capel.Frank Chapman
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Principal Activities and Business Review

London Capital Group Holdings plc is a cash 
generative supplier of financial products. Operating 
through its principal subsidiary, London Capital 
Group Limited, its core activity is the provision 
of spread betting products on financial markets 
to private clients. It also provides institutional 
derivatives broking and foreign exchange trading 
services to institutional clients and retail brokers.

Developments affecting the Group during the 
year and its prospects for the future are evaluated 
in the Chairman’s Statement and in the Chief 
Executive Officer’s Review on pages 8 to 13. This 
includes an analysis of the position of the Group at 
the year end and key performance indicators.

Acquisition

On 23 May 2008, the Group acquired 
FuturesBetting.com Limited, a Gibraltar-based 
financial spread betting business, for an initial 
consideration of £200,000 plus a deferred  
payment of up to £300,000 dependent upon  
future performance.

Employment of Disabled Persons

Full and fair consideration is given to employment 
applications from disabled persons having regard 
to their particular aptitudes and abilities. So far as is 
practical, arrangements are made to continue the 
employment of an individual who becomes disabled.  
Disabled employees are given fair consideration for 
training, career development and promotion.

Employment Policies

The development of employee involvement in the 
Group’s business is kept under regular review and 
the directors are committed to encouraging greater 
involvement by all employees. Formal and informal 
briefing of employees takes place as appropriate.

The Group takes all reasonable steps to ensure 
that employment conditions are equal in all respects 
for both men and women.

Employees benefit directly from the success of 
the business through the Group’s performance-
related bonus schemes and share option plans.

Charitable and Political Donations

During the year, the Group has not made any 
political donations. Charitable donations totalling 
£14,300 (2007: £9,200) were made.

18

Directors’ Report

The Business and its Management

Share Capital

During the year, a total of 344,634 new ordinary 
shares were issued as a result of the exercise of 
share options. As at 31 December 2008, there were 
38,637,317 ordinary shares of 10p each in issue. 
The ordinary shares are listed on the Alternative 
Investment Market of the London Stock Exchange. 

Dividend

Group profit for the year after tax amounted to 
£8,148 million (2007: £6,008 million) all of which is 
attributable to members of the Company.

The directors recommend the payment of a final 
dividend of 8.50p (2007: 5.25p) per ordinary share 
amounting to £3.3 million (2007: £2.01 million) 

which, together with the interim dividend of  
2.50p (2007: 1.25p) makes a total of 11p or  
£4.3 million (2007: 6.50p or £2.49 million) for  
the year. If approved, the dividend will be paid on  
28 April 2009 to shareholders on the register at the 
close of business on 27 March 2009. Following the 
adoption of IFRS, dividends are now recognised in 
the financial statements in the year in which  
they are paid or, in the case of a final dividend,  
when they are approved by shareholders. 

Substantial Interests in Shares

Details of substantial holdings in the issued  
ordinary share capital of the Company notified  
as at 17 February 2009 were:

Statutory and Other Compliance

No. of Shares % of Total

Simon Denham 6,687,720 17.30

Frank Chapman 5,540,000 14.47

Rachel Woodford 3,315,000 8.57

Legal & General Investment Management Ltd 2,610,102 6.75

BlackRock Merrill Lynch Investment Mgt 2,355,340 6.09

AXA Framlington 1,304,177 3.37

Hargreave Hale 1,193,700 3.09

The directors are pleased to present their annual report and the audited  
financial statements for the period ended 31 December 2008.
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The Group does not offer credit to any of its 
customers, whether retail or institutional. For 
spread betting clients, the Group has automatic 
stop-losses generated by software which generally 
prevents these clients from going into a debt cash 
position. In addition, there are position limits per 
client on equities preventing them from building an 
excessively leveraged position in any one share.

These safeguards have resulted in minimal bad 
and doubtful debts across all Group divisions in 2008.  

The Group endeavours to run a low risk model 
across all its businesses and has the benefit of long 
trading experience amongst its Board of directors.

The Group’s disaster recovery plan was 
successfully tested in 2007 when a flood in 
the basement of the Appold Street premises 
necessitated the evacuation of staff and activities 
to a pre-planned alternative location. There was no 
noticeable effect on the running of the business.

Payment of Commercial Debts

The Group’s policy, in relation to all its suppliers, is 
to settle the terms of payment when agreeing the 
terms of each transaction provided always that it 
is satisfied the supplier has provided the goods or 
services in accordance with the agreed terms and 
conditions. The Group does not follow any code or 
standard on payment practice but it is the Group’s 
policy, unless otherwise negotiated, to pay all its 
suppliers within 30 days of the end of the month in 
which it received the goods or services.

The number of days’ purchases (“creditor days”) 
outstanding for payment by the Group at the year 
end was 30 days (2007: 30 days).

Disclosure of Information to the Auditors

In the case of each of the persons who are directors 
of the Group at the date when this report is approved:

(a)  so far as each of the directors is aware, there is 
no relevant audit information (as defined in the 
Companies Act 1985) of which the Company’s 
auditors are unaware; and

(b)  each of the directors has taken all steps that they 

ought to have taken to make themselves aware  
of any relevant audit information (as defined) 
and to establish that the auditors are aware of 
that information.

This information is given and should be interpreted 
in accordance with the provisions of Section 234ZA 
of the Companies Act 1985.

Annual General Meeting
Authority to Allot Shares

In accordance with current guidelines, the directors 
seek authority for a period of five years from the 
date of the Annual General Meeting to allot a 
maximum of 16,362,683 relevant securities. This 
represents the current amount of the authorised 
but unissued ordinary share capital. Further, in 
order to retain some flexibility, the directors seek 
power to allot 1,931,865 equity securities wholly for 
cash other than on a pre-emptive basis to current 
shareholders pro-rata to their existing holdings. This 
amount represents 5% of the issued ordinary share 
capital on the balance sheet at 31 December 2008. 

Articles of Association

A resolution will be put to the Annual General Meeting 
to amend the articles of association to incorporate 
changes introduced by the Companies Act 2006.

Auditors

Deloitte & Touche LLP were appointed auditors 
during the year. On 1 December 2008, Deloitte 
& Touche LLP changed its name to Deloitte LLP. 
Deloitte LLP have expressed their willingness to 
continue in office as auditors and a resolution to 
re-appoint them will be proposed at the forthcoming 
Annual General Meeting.

Resolutions covering the above matters appear 
as Items 5,6,7 and 8 in the Notice convening the 
Annual General Meeting on pages 59 to 60.

Corporate Governance
A report on corporate governance is contained on 
pages 26 and 27.

Health and Safety

The Group aims to provide and maintain a safe 
working environment for all its employees and 
visitors and seeks the involvement of its employees 
in improving health and safety throughout its 
operations. The Board keeps its health and safety 
policy under regular review to take account of 
changes in legislation, best practice and the  
working environment.

Environment

Given the nature of its activities, there is limited 
scope for the Group to have a major impact on 
environmental matters.  Nevertheless, the directors 
are mindful of their responsibilities in this regard and 
strive to seek opportunities where improvements 
may be made: it is likely that these will be 
concentrated in areas of energy conservation and 
waste control.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Group Risk Committee, which is chaired by Jack 
Inglis, meets regularly to review all aspects of the 
business and reports to the Board. It determines all 
market based and other risk taken by the Group.  
The main areas of risk for the Group are considered 
to be the following:

  Liquidity Risk: the Group has built an 
appropriate risk management framework for the 
management of the Group’s funds. The Group 
has implemented policies that require appropriate 
checks on existing and potential banks to be 
performed before funds are deposited with them. 
Rigorous procedures have been put in place to 
try and ensure the Group’s funds are deposited 
with a number of sound institutions and there 

is limited concentration risk. The Group had no 
exposure to any of the financial institutions that 
collapsed during 2008.

  Interest Rate Risk: as the Group is debt free there 
are no incidental interest charges. However, the 
Group does earn interest on both its own cash 
and on client funds held on deposit. The latter is 
included in the revenue and while rates remain 
low, this income is unlikely to be a significant 
contributor to Group profit.

  Foreign Currency Risk: the Group faces currency 
exposures on the translation of its trading 
revenues. Given a proportion of the Group’s 
revenues are generated in foreign currencies 
(mainly USD, Euros), the strengthening of these 
currencies has given rise to a foreign exchange 
gain of £0.9 million (2007: loss of £0.07 million) 
which is reflected in the Group revenue. The 
Group has a policy to hedge these exposures on 
an ongoing basis.

  Bad Debts: the risk management software 
systems which we operate are specifically 
designed to prevent the accrual of client debt 
via mandatory stop-loss policy and credit is not 
offered to clients. This has led to minimal bad 
debts (£87,000) across all Group divisions in 2008.

  Market-making risk: the basic rules followed are 
to accept market-making risk on spread betting 
business and to act as commission earning 
execution-only brokers on institutional business.

  “Fat finger” risk: this is the execution risk on the 
institutional exchange traded futures and  
options business.

  Regulatory risk: the Group is regulated by 
the Financial Services Authority. Whilst a 
comprehensive audit by that body in the summer 
of 2007 did not reveal any major shortcomings, 
there is always potential for the introduction of 
new regulations which could disadvantage the 
Group’s trading position.

  Technology risk: the Group’s activities are heavily 
dependent on its IT systems. In addition to the 
usual backup arrangements, the Group now has 
a further independent IT system for the spread 
betting business which is being run in parallel with 
the original system.
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Directors, their Remuneration 
and their Interests

Directors

The names of the current directors together with 
brief biographical details are shown on page 17. All 
directors served throughout the year and to the date 
of signing of these financial statements.

In accordance with article 84 of the Company’s 
articles of association, Frank Chapman and Raj 
Gandhi retire by rotation and, being eligible, offer 
themselves for re-appointment. Each has a service 
contract which is terminable by the Company on not 
less than six months’ notice.

The Board recommends the re-appointment of 
Frank Chapman and Raj Gandhi as directors.

No director had any material interest in any 
contract of significance with the Group throughout 
the period under review.

Directors’ Service Agreements

All executive directors’ service contracts are subject 
to six months’ notice of termination from the 
Company and six months from the individual.

The non-executive directors are each appointed 
for fixed terms of 12 months and these terms are 
extendible by mutual agreement. All appointees are 
subject to regular re-appointment by shareholders. 
Contracts are terminable on three months’ notice 
except in the case of the Company being taken over 
or the individual concerned becoming prohibited 
by law from acting as a director in which case 
termination is immediate.

Non-executive Directors’ Remuneration

The remuneration for non-executive directors is  
set by the full Board on the recommendation of  
the executive directors. Remuneration comprises  
an annual fee. Non-executive directors are not 
eligible to participate in any of the Company’s  
bonus schemes.

Remuneration Policy

It is the Company’s policy to provide for each of its 
executive directors a remuneration package which is 
adequate to attract, retain and motivate individuals 
of the appropriate calibre whilst at the same time 
not paying more than is necessary for this purpose.

Executive Directors’ Remuneration

The remuneration of the executive directors is 
determined by the Remuneration committee.

The following comprised the principal elements 
of executive directors’ remuneration for the period 
under review:

  basic salary – this is not performance-related and 
is normally reviewed with effect from 1 January in 
each year.

  annual cash bonus – this is performance-related 
and is paid in full within three months of the  
year end.

  healthcare for the executive director, spouse and 
dependent children.

Share Options

The Group currently operates the London Capital 
Group Holdings plc Enterprise Management 
Incentive Scheme and the London Capital Group 
Holdings plc Unapproved Share Option Plan 2005.

Audited Information

Directors’ Emoluments

Summary Remuneration Table

The various elements of remuneration received by each director were as follows:

Basic salary & fees Benefits Annual Bonus Other Total

Year to 31 December 2008 
£

2007 
£

2008 
£

2007 
£

2008 
£

2007 
£

2008 
£

2007 
£

2008 
£

2007 
£

Executive

Francis Chapman 175,000 150,000 3,253 3,481 125,000 180,000 - - 303,253 333,481

Simon Denham 175,000 150,000 1,532 1,252 125,000 180,000 - - 301,532 331,252

Rachel Woodford 150,000 117,500 434 604 125,000 150,000 - - 275,434 268,104

Raj Gandhi 120,000 100,000 2,068 912 10,000 70,000 - - 132,068 170,912

Subtotal 620,000 517,500 7,287 6,249 385,000 580,000 - - 1,012,287 1,103,749

Non-executive

Richard Davey 65,000 31,859¹ - - - - - - 65,000 31,859

Jack Inglis 35,000 23,885² - - - - - - 35,000 23,885

Robert Loosemore 16,667³ - - - - - - - 16,667

Geoffrey Forster 14,688³ - - - - - - - 14,688

Subtotal 100,000 87,099 - - - - - - 100,000 87,099

TOTAL 720,000 604,599 7,287 6,249 385,000 580,000 - - 1,112,287 1,190,848

¹  Period from 14 May 2007 
²  Period from 15 March 2007 
³  Period to 22 March 2007

Benefits (which are taxable) comprise the provision of healthcare. 
The highest paid director was Frank Chapman.
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Directors’ Contracts:

Executive directors Date of contract Notice period

Frank Chapman 15 December 2005 6 months

Simon Denham 15 December 2005 6 months

Rachel Woodford 15 December 2005 6 months

Raj Gandhi 12 September 2006 6 months

Non-executive directors Letter of appointment date Period of appointment

Jack Inglis 15 March 2009 12 months

Richard Davey 14 May 2008 12 months

Directors’ Report



Pension Benefits 

No director has an entitlement to pension benefits from the Company.

Directors’ Interests in Options 

Number of options

Date of 
Grant

at 1 Jan 
2008

Granted 
during  

the year

Exercised 
and sold  

in year
at 31 Dec 

2008
Exercise 

price

Date from 
which 

exercisable
Expiry 

date

Frank Chapman 08.11.07 60,000 - - 60,000 389.83p 08.11.10 07.11.17

Simon Denham 08.11.07 60,000 - - 60,000 389.83p 08.11.10 07.11.17

Rachel Woodford 08.11.07 60,000 - - 60,000 389.83p 08.11.10 07.11.17

Raj Gandhi 20.09.06 60,000 - - 60,000 116.50p 20.09.09 19.09.16

Raj Gandhi 06.12.06 40,000 - - 40,000 142.00p 06.12.09 05.12.16

Raj Gandhi 08.11.07 60,000 - - 60,000 389.83p 08.11.10 07.11.17

Total 340,000 - - 340,000

Directors’ Interests in Shares

At 31 December 2008 At 31 December 2007

Ordinary shares Beneficial Non-beneficial Beneficial Non-beneficial

Frank Chapman 5,540,000 - 5,540,000 -

Richard Davey 0 - 0 -

Simon Denham 6,687,720 - 6,680,000 -

Raj Gandhi 25,000 - 25,000 -

Jack Inglis 0 - 0 -

Rachel Woodford 3,315,000 - 3,320,000 -

 
By Order of the Board

Peter Dawes, Secretary 
17 February 2009
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We remain debt free and cash generative 
and expect some good opportunities to 
present themselves during 2009.
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Internal Controls

The Group has established processes and procedures 
for identifying, evaluating and managing the 
significant risks faced by the Group. The processes 
have been embedded into the fabric of the Group 
and have been in place for the period under review 
and up to the date of approval of the annual 
report and financial statements. The processes and 
procedures will be regularly reviewed by the Board.

The Board is ultimately responsible for the 
Group’s system of internal controls and for reviewing 
its effectiveness. The role of management is to 
implement Board policies on risk and control. The 
system of internal controls is designed to manage 
rather than eliminate the risk of failure of the 
achievement of business objectives. In pursuing 
these objectives, internal controls can only provide 
reasonable and not absolute assurance against 
material misstatement or loss. 

The processes used by the Board to review the 
effectiveness of the system of internal controls 
include the following: 

  annual budgets are prepared for each 
operating business and compared with monthly 
management reporting, which focuses on actual 
performance against these budgets; 

  management reports and external audit reports 
on the system of internal controls and any 
material control weaknesses that are identified; 

  discussions with management including 
discussions on the actions taken on problem areas 
identified by Board members or in the external 
audit reports;

  policies and procedures for such matters as 
delegation of authorities, capital expenditure and 
treasury management as well as regular updates; 

  review of the adequacy of the level of 
experienced and professional staff throughout 
the business and the expertise of individual staff 
members so that they are capable of carrying out 
their individual delegated responsibilities; and 

  review of the external audit work plans. 

The Group’s management operates a risk 
management process which identifies the key 
risks facing each business. The process is based on 
each business unit producing a risk register which 
identifies the potential key risks to the individual 
business unit, the impact should they occur and the 
action being taken to sufficiently manage those risks. 

Peter Dawes, Secretary 
17 February 2009

The directors believe the Board is soundly constituted. 
At this stage in the Company’s development, the 
directors have determined that it is appropriate to 
fix the number of regular Board meetings at eight, 
spread realistically throughout the year. In addition, 
there is a meeting devoted to corporate strategy. The 
directors are confident that this will enable them to 
exercise adequate control over the activities of the 
group. There is a clear distinction between the role 
of the non-executive chairman in running the Board 
and the chief executive in running the business. The 
latter is obliged to comply with a schedule of matters 
requiring Board approval before implementation. This 
schedule is reviewed by the Board at least annually.

Each director submits themself for re-election  
at least once every three years.

Jack Inglis has been designated senior 
independent director.

The Company maintains appropriate directors’ 
and officers’ liability insurance. 

All directors have access to the advice and 
services of the Company Secretary and they are 
able to take independent professional advice at the 
Company’s expense.

The Company’s ongoing dialogue with its major 
institutional shareholders remains modest but steps 
continue to be taken by the directors to adopt a 
more proactive approach to this.

The Board has an Audit Committee, a 
Remuneration Committee and a Risk Committee. 
At this stage of the group’s development it is felt 
the functions of a Nomination Committee can be 
adequately fulfilled by deliberation of the full Board: 
this is nevertheless kept under review.

The Audit Committee comprises Richard Davey 
(Chairman) and Jack Inglis. The executive directors 

and representatives of the external auditors attend 
meetings by invitation as required. The committee 
meets at least three times each year and receives 
reports from the Company’s management and 
external auditors relating to the annual and interim 
accounts and the accounting and internal control 
systems within the group. The committee has direct 
and unrestricted access to the external auditors.

The Board has determined that, at present, a 
separate internal audit function is not required. 
Arising from the nature of its business, the Group is 
closely controlled by the Financial Services Authority 
and the Risk Committee monitors many of the 
financial aspect of the business.

The Remuneration Committee comprises Jack 
Inglis (chairman) and Richard Davey and meets 
at least twice each year. The principal duties 
of the committee are to determine the total 
individual remuneration packages for executive 
directors and to review the scale and structure of 
the remuneration and service contracts for senior 
management. The committee also administers the 
Company’s share option schemes.

The Risk Committee comprises Jack Inglis 
(Chairman) and Richard Davey and meets regularly 
to discuss and manage the financial risk of the group 
including, amongst other financial risks, liquidity 
levels, overall limits and financial parameters used in 
hedging policy. Its main areas of attention are set 
out in the directors’ report on pages 20 and 21.

The chairman of each of the Audit, Remuneration 
and Risk Committees will be available to answer 
questions at the AGM. The Company Secretary is 
secretary to the Audit and Remuneration Committees.

Corporate Governance Report
Whilst not required to do so, the directors are pleased to provide 
corporate governance disclosures similar to those that would be 
required of a listed Company.
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Statement of Directors’ 
Responsibilities
The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report, the Directors’ Report 
and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

28

Company law requires the directors to prepare 
financial statements for each financial year. The 
directors are required by the IAS Regulation to 
prepare the group financial statements under IFRSs 
as adopted by the European Union and have also 
elected to prepare the parent company financial 
statements in accordance with IFRSs as adopted 
by the European Union. The financial statements 
are also required by law to be properly prepared 
in accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and 
Article 4 of the IAS Regulation. 

International Accounting Standard 1 requires 
that financial statements present fairly for each 
financial year the company’s financial position, 
financial performance and cash flows. This 
requires the faithful representation of the effects 
of transactions, other events and conditions in 
accordance with the definitions and recognition 
criteria for assets, liabilities, income and expenses 
set out in the International Accounting Standards 
Board’s ‘Framework for the preparation and 
presentation of financial statements’. In virtually all 
circumstances, a fair presentation will be achieved 
by compliance with all applicable IFRSs. However, 
directors are also required to:

 properly select and apply accounting policies;
  present information, including accounting 

policies, in a manner that provides relevant, 
reliable, comparable and understandable 
information; and 

  provide additional disclosures when compliance 
with the specific requirements in IFRSs are 
insufficient to enable users to understand the 
impact of particular transactions, other events  
and conditions on the entity’s financial position 
and financial performance.

The directors are responsible for keeping proper 
accounting records that disclose with reasonable 
accuracy at any time the financial position of the 
company and enable them to ensure that the 
financial statements comply with the Companies 
Act 1985. They are also responsible for safeguarding 
the assets of the company and hence for taking 
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection  
of fraud and other irregularities.

The directors are responsible for the 
maintenance and integrity of the corporate and 
financial information included on the company’s 
website. Legislation in the United Kingdom  
governing the preparation and dissemination of 
financial statements may differ from legislation  
in other jurisdictions. 
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Strong emphasis is placed on risk control 
and mitigation across each division and 
the Group as a whole.
Richard Davey, Chairman



30 Independent Auditors’ Report

Directors’ Remuneration contained in the Directors’ 
Report, the Chairman’s Statement, the Operating 
and Financial Review and the Corporate Governance 
Statement. We consider the implications for 
our report if we become aware of any apparent 
misstatements or material inconsistencies with 
the financial statements. Our responsibilities do 
not extend to any further information outside the 
Annual Report.

Basis of audit opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing (UK and 
Ireland) issued by the Auditing Practices Board. 
An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of 
evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements and the part of the 
Directors’ Report to be audited. It also includes 
an assessment of the significant estimates and 
judgments made by the directors in the preparation 
of the financial statements, and of whether the 
accounting policies are appropriate to the Group’s 
and Company’s circumstances, consistently applied 
and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as 
to obtain all the information and explanations 
which we considered necessary in order to provide 
us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable 
assurance that the financial statements and the 
part of the Directors’ Report to be audited are free 
from material misstatement, whether caused by 
fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming our 
opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy 
of the presentation of information in the financial 
statements and the part of the Directors’ Report to 
be audited. 

Opinion

In our opinion:

  the Group financial statements give a true and 
fair view, in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by 
the European Union, of the state of the Group’s 
affairs as at 31 December 2008 and of its profit 
for the year then ended;

  the Parent Company financial statements give 
a true and fair view, in accordance with IFRSs as 
adopted by the European Union as applied in 
accordance with the provisions of the Companies 
Act 1985, of the state of the Parent Company’s 
affairs as at 31 December 2008;

  the financial statements and the part of the 
Directors’ Report to be audited relating to 
Directors’ Remuneration, have been properly 
prepared in accordance with the Companies 
Act 1985 and, as regards the Group financial 
statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation; and

  the information given in the Directors’ Report is 
consistent with the financial statements.

Separate opinion in relation to IFRSs

As explained in Note 2 to the Group financial 
statements, the Group in addition to complying with 
its legal obligation to comply with IFRSs as adopted 
by the European Union, has also complied with the 
IFRSs as issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board.

In our opinion the Group financial statements 
give a true and fair view, in accordance with IFRSs, of 
the state of the Group’s affairs as at 31 December 
2008 and of its profit for the year then ended.

Deloitte LLP 
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors 

Reading, United Kingdom 
17 February 2009

Independent Auditors’ Report to 
the Members of London Capital 
Group Holdings plc
We have audited the Group and Parent Company 
financial statements (the “financial statements”) 
of London Capital Group Holdings plc for the 
year ended 31 December 2008, which comprise 
Income Statement, the Group and Parent Company 
Balance Sheets, the Group Cash Flow Statements, 
the Group and Parent Company Statements of 
Changes in Equity and the related notes 1 to 27. 
These financial statements have been prepared 
under the accounting policies set out therein. We 
have also audited the information relating to the 
Directors’ Remuneration in the Directors’ Report that 
is described as having been audited.

This report is made solely to the Company’s 
members, as a body, in accordance with section 
235 of the Companies Act 1985. Our audit work 
has been undertaken so that we might state to the 
Company’s members those matters we are required 
to state to them in an auditors’ report and for no 
other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, 
we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone 
other than the Company and the Company’s 
members as a body, for our audit work, for this 
report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of  
directors and auditors

The directors’ responsibilities for preparing the 
Annual Report, the Directors’ Report and the 
financial statements in accordance with applicable 
law and International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union are set 
out in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities.

Our responsibility is to audit the financial 
statements and the part of the information relating 
to Directors’ Remuneration contained in the 
Directors’ Report to be audited in accordance with 

relevant legal and regulatory requirements and 
International Standards on Auditing  
(UK and Ireland).

We report to you our opinion as to whether the 
financial statements give a true and fair view and 
whether the financial statements and the part of 
the information relating to Directors’ Remuneration 
contained in the Directors’ Report to be audited 
have been properly prepared in accordance with the 
Companies Act 1985. We also report to  
you whether in our opinion the information given  
in the Directors’ Report is consistent with the 
financial statements. 

In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, 
the Company has not kept proper accounting 
records, if we have not received all the information 
and explanations we require for our audit, or if 
information specified by law regarding directors’ 
remuneration and other transactions is not disclosed.

Although not required to do so, the directors 
have voluntarily chosen to make a corporate 
governance statement detailing the extent of their 
compliance with the July 2003 FRC Combined Code. 
We review whether the Corporate Governance 
Statement reflects the Company’s compliance with 
the nine provisions of the 2006 Combined Code 
specified for our review by the Listing Rules of the 
Financial Services Authority, and we report if it does 
not. We are not required to consider whether the 
Board’s statements on internal control cover all risks 
and controls, or form an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the Group’s corporate governance procedures or 
its risk and control procedures.

We read the other information contained in the 
Annual Report and consider whether it is consistent 
with the audited financial statements. The other 
information comprises only the Directors’ Report, 
the unaudited part of the information relating to 
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Accounts

For the year ended 31 December 2008
32

Notes
2008

£’000
2007

£’000

Revenue 3 29,574 18,980

Cost of sales 6,677 3,774

Gross profit 22,897 15,206

Administrative expenses  
(excluding depreciation, amortisation and share-based payments) 9,596 5,595

Adjusted EBITDA 4 13,301 9,611

Depreciation and amortisation 1,149 434

Adjusted operating profit 4 12,152 9,177

Share based payment charge 1,007 737

Operating profit 5 11,145 8,440

Net finance revenue 7 401 134

Profit before taxation 11,546 8,574

Tax expense 8 3,398 2,566

Profit for the year 8,148 6,008

Profit for the year attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent 8,148 6,008

Earnings per share (pence)

- Basic 9 21.18 15.69

- Diluted 9 20.38 14.89

- Adjusted basic 9 23.07 17.04

 
All the Group’s revenue and profit for the year and prior year relate to continuing activities. 
The notes on pages 38 to 58 are an integral part of these financial statements.

Group Income Statement  FOR THE yEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2008
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At 31 December 2008
34 Accounts

Notes 2008
£’000

2007
£’000

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Intangible assets 11 14,472 11,826

Property, plant and equipment 13 907 792

Deferred tax asset 16 515 67

15,894 12,685

CURRENT ASSETS

Trade and other receivables 17 2,782 1,096

Cash and cash equivalents 18 57,294 46,132

60,076 47,228

TOTAL ASSETS 75,970 59,913

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade and other payables 19,20 48,394 39,511

Current tax liabilities 1,942 1,467

50,336 40,978

TOTAL LIABILITIES 50,336 40,978

NET ASSETS 25,634 18,935

EQUITY

Called-up equity share capital 25 3,864 3,829

Share premium account 26 11,855 11,607

Retained profits 26 13,195 7,639

Share option reserve 26 2,064 1,204

Other reserves 26 (5,344) (5,344)

TOTAL EQUITY 25,634 18,935

These financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of directors on 17 February 2009  
and signed on their behalf by:

Frank Chapman 
Director

The notes on pages 38 to 58 are an integral part of these financial statements.

Group Balance Sheet  
AT 31 DECEMBER 2008

Statement Of Changes In Shareholders’ Equity 
FOR THE yEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2008

Group

Issued 
share

capital
(note 25)

£’000

Share 
premium 
account

(note 26)
£’000

Retained 
profits

(note 26)
£’000

Share 
option 
reserve

(note 26)
£’000

Other 
reserves

(note 26)
£’000

Total 
equity
£’000

At 1 January 2007 3,829 11,607 2,708 541 (5,344) 13,341

Total recognised income and expense for the year - - 6,008 - - 6,008

Recognition of equity-settled share-based payments in the year - - - 737 - 737

Exercise/forfeiture of share options - - 52 (74) - (22)

Equity dividends paid - - (1,129) - - (1,129)

At 1 January 2008 3,829 11,607 7,639 1,204 (5,344) 18,935

Total recognised income and expense for the year - - 8,148 - - 8,148

Issue of shares 35 248 - - - 283

Recognition of equity-settled share-based payments in the year - - 237 1,007 - 1,244

Exercise/forfeiture of share options - - 147 (147) - -

Equity dividends paid - - (2,976) - - (2,976)

At 31 December 2008 3,864 11,855 13,195 2,064 (5,344) 25,634

Company (restated note 27)

Issued 
share

capital
(note 25)

£’000

Share 
premium 
account

(note 26)
£’000

Retained 
profits

(note 26)
£’000

Share 
option 
reserve

(note 26)
£’000

Total 
equity
£’000

At 1 January 2007 as previously stated 3,829 11,607 (449) 541 15,528

Prior period adjustment - - 379 - 379

At 1 January 2007 restated 3,829 11,607 (70) 541 15,907

Total recognised income and expense for the year - - 2,427 - 2,427

Recognition of equity-settled share-based payments in the year - - - 737 737

Exercise/forfeiture of share options - - - (74) (74)

Equity dividends paid - - (1,129) - (1,129)

At 1 January 2008 3,829 11,607 1,228 1,204 17,868

Total recognised income and expense for the year - - 8,888 - 8,888

Issue of shares 35 248 - - 283

Recognition of equity-settled share-based payments in the year - - - 1,007 1,007

Exercise/forfeiture of share options - - - (147) (147)

Equity dividends paid - - (2,976) - (2,976)

At 31 December 2008 3,864 11,855 7,140 2,064 24,923

The notes on pages 38 to 58 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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2008 2007  
(restated note 27)

Notes £’000 £’000

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Investments 14 7,203 6,343

CURRENT ASSETS

Trade and other receivables 17 22,750 13,751

TOTAL ASSETS 29,953 20,094

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade and other payables 20 5,030 2,226

NET ASSETS 24,923 17,868

EQUITY

Called-up equity share capital 25 3,864 3,829

Share premium account 26 11,855 11,607

Retained profits 26 7,140 1,228

Share option reserve 26 2,064 1,204

TOTAL EQUITY 24,923 17,868

As permitted by Section 230 of the Companies Act 1985, the individual income statement of London 
Capital Group Holdings plc has not been presented in these financial statements. The amount of profit after 
taxation for the financial year dealt with in the financial statements of London Capital Group Holdings plc is 
£8,888,000 (2007 restated: £2,427,000).

These financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of directors on 17 February 2009 and 
signed on their behalf by:

Frank Chapman 
Director

The notes on pages 38 to 58 are an integral part of these financial statements.

Notes
2008

£’000
2007

£’000

Profit for the year 8,148 6,008

Adjustments for:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 338 434

Amortisation of intangible assets 811 -

Equity settled share based payment 1,007 737

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 41 -

Finance income (403) (134)

Finance expense 2 -

Current tax charge 3,688 2,612

Deferred tax asset (290) (46)

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 13,342 9,611

(Increase)/decrease in receivables (1,456) (410)

Increase/(decrease) in payables 7,918 23,639

Cash generated by operating activities    19,804 32,840

Taxation paid (3,213) (1,737)

Net cash from operations 16,591 31,103

Investing activities

Interest received 403 134

Interest paid (2) -

Acquisitions of property, plant and equipment (387) (2,094)

Acquisitions of intangible assets (2,474) -

Acquisitions of investments 12 (319) -

Cash acquired on acquisition of investments 12 43 -

Net cash used in investing activities (2,736) (1,960)

Financing activities

Dividends paid (2,976) (1,129)

Cash from issued share capital 283 -

Net cash used in financing activities (2,693) (1,129)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 11,162 28,014

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 46,132 18,118

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 18 57,294 46,132

Own money 12,636 10,319

Client monies held 44,658 35,813

57,294 46,132

A Company Cash flow statement has not been presented as the Company does not hold any cash. 
The notes on pages 38 to 58 are an integral part of these financial statements.

For the year ended 31 December 2008
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Notes to the Financial  
Statements at 31 December 2008

1.  Adoption of new and  
revised Standards

At the date of authorisation of these financial 
statements the following new standards and 
interpretations which have not been applied in  
these financial statements were in issue but not  
yet effective:

  IAS 1 (amended) 
Presentation of financial statements:  
A revised presentation

  IAS 27 (revised) 
Consolidated and separate financial statements

  IFRS 2 (amended) 
Share option charge: 
Vesting conditions and cancellations

  IFRS 3 (amended) 
Business combinations

  IFRS 8 
Operating segments

The directors anticipate that the adoption of these 
Standards and Interpretations in future periods will 
have no material impact on the financial statements 
of the Group. 

2. Accounting policies
The principal accounting policies adopted are set out 
below. These have been applied consistently to all 
periods presented in the IFRS financial statements.

Basis of accounting

The financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) as adopted for use in the European 
Union and therefore comply with Article 4 of the EU 
IAS Regulation. 

The financial statements have been prepared on 
the historical cost basis using pounds sterling which 
is both the presentation currency and the functional 
currency of the Group. 

Basis of consolidation

The Group’s consolidated financial statements 
incorporate the financial statements of London 
Capital Group Holdings plc (the “Company”) and 
entities controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries).  
Control is achieved where the Company has the 
power to govern the financial and operating policies 
of an investee entity so as to obtain benefits from  
its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed 
of during the year are included in the consolidated 
income statement from the effective date of 
acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal,  
as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the 
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring the 
accounting policies used into line with those used by 
the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income 
and expenses are eliminated on consolidation.

Significant accounting judgements and 
sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and 
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the 
balance sheet date, that have a significant risk 
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next 
financial year, are discussed below. The judgements 
used by management in the application of the 
Group’s policies in respect of these key areas of 
estimation are considered to be the most significant.

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires 
an estimation of the value in use of the cash-
generating units to which the goodwill has been 
allocated. The value in use calculation requires the 
entity to estimate future cash flows expected to 
arise from the cash-generating unit and a suitable 
discount rate in order to calculate present value. The 
carrying amount of goodwill at the balance sheet 
date was £10 million. Details regarding the goodwill 
carrying value and assumptions used in carrying out 
the impairment reviews are provided in note 12.

Going concern

The Company’s business activities and principal 
risks and uncertainties are detailed in the directors’ 
report on pages 14 to 15. Having considered these 
risks and the current economic environment as well 
as the Group’s cash resources and lack of external 
debt, the directors have a reasonable expectation 
that the Company has adequate resources to 
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable 
future. Accordingly they continue to adopt the going 
concern basis in preparing the annual report  
and accounts.

Business Combinations

Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are 
accounted for using the purchase method. The 
cost of the business combination is measured as 

the aggregate of the fair values (at the date of 
exchange) of assets given, liabilities incurred or 
assumed, and equity instruments issued by the Group 
in exchange for control of the acquiree, plus any costs 
directly attributable to the business combination.

The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and 
contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for 
recognition under IFRS 3 Business Combinations are 
recognised at their fair values at the acquisition date, 
except for non-current assets that are classified as 
held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current 
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations, 
which are recognised and measured at fair value less 
costs to sell.

Upon transition to IFRS, the Group took 
advantage of the optional exemption afforded 
by IFRS 1 to not restate the business combination 
concerning the acquisition of Tradex Enterprises 
Limited using the purchase method.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised to the extent that economic 
benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue can 
be reliably measured.

Rendering of services includes gains and losses 
on the running of betting and trading in financial 
markets, net of commission expensed, foreign 
exchange gains and interest. Open positions are 
carried at fair market value and gains and losses 
arising on this valuation are recognised in revenue as 
well as gains and losses on positions that have closed.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and any provision  
for impairment.

London Group Capital Holdings plc is a Company incorporated in the United 
Kingdom under the Companies Act 1985. The nature of the Group’s operations 
and its principal activities are set out in the Directors’ Report on pages 18 to 25.

At 31 December 2008
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liabilities of the subsidiary or jointly controlled 
entity recognised at the date of acquisition. 
Goodwill is initially recognised as an asset at cost 
and is subsequently measured at cost less any 
accumulated impairment losses.

Impairment testing of goodwill

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is 
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating 
units expected to benefit from the synergies of 
the combination. Cash-generating units to which 
goodwill is allocated are tested for impairment 
annually, or more frequently when there is an 
indication that a specific unit may be impaired.

If the recoverable amount of a cash-generating 
unit is less than the carrying amount of the unit, 
the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the 
carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the 
unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata 
on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset 
within the unit. 

An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is  
not reversible in a subsequent period. On disposal  
of a subsidiary, the attributable amount of goodwill 
is included in the determination of the profit or loss 
on disposal.

Operating lease agreements

Rental payments under operating leases where 
substantially all of the benefits and risks of 
ownership remain with the lessor are charged to  
the income statement on a straight line basis over 
the term of the lease.

Current taxation

The tax currently payable is based on taxable  
profit for the year. Taxable profit may differ from the 
net profit shown in the income statement because 
it excludes income or expenses that are taxable or 
deductible in other years and furthermore it might 
exclude other items that are never taxable  
or deductible.

Current tax is provided at amounts expected to 

be paid or recovered using tax rates and laws which 
are in force at the balance sheet date.

Deferred taxation

Deferred tax is provided in full, using the liability 
method. It represents the tax payable on temporary 
differences between the amount recoverable in 
respect of any differences between the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial 
statements as compared to corresponding tax values 
used in the computation of taxable profit.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent 
that it is probable that future taxable profits will be 
available against which the asset can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured 
using the rates that are expected to apply to the 
period when the asset is realised or the liability  
is settled.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances 
and call deposits. 

Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand 
and form an integral part of the Company’s cash 
management are included as a component of cash 
and cash equivalents for the purposes only of the 
statement of cash flows.

Foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into 
sterling at the rate of exchange ruling at the date 
of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are translated 
into sterling at the rates of exchange ruling at 
the balance sheet date. Exchange differences are 
recognised in the income statement.

Share-based payment transactions

The Group operates a share option programme that 
allows employees to acquire shares of the Company. 
In accordance with the transitional provisions of 
IFRS 2, Share-based payment, the requirements of 

Depreciation of property,  
plant and equipment

Depreciation is calculated so as to allocate the cost 
of each asset to its estimated residual value, over its 
estimated useful life as follows:

 Plant and Equipment – 25% straight line
  Leasehold Property – Straight line over the  

lease term

The assets’ estimated residual values and useful lives 
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each 
balance sheet date.

Intangible assets excluding goodwill

 Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets acquired separately are reported 
at cost less accumulated amortisation and 
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is 
charged on a straight-line basis over their estimated 
useful lives as follows:

 Software – 25% straight line

The estimated useful life and amortisation method 
are reviewed at the end of each annual reporting 
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate 
being accounted for on a prospective basis.

  Intangible assets acquired in a  
business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination 
are identified and recognised separately from 
goodwill where they satisfy the definition of 
an intangible asset and their fair values can be 
measured reliably. The cost of such an intangible 
asset is their fair value at the acquisition date.

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible 
assets acquired in a business combination are 
reported at cost less accumulated amortisation and 
accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis 
as intangible assets acquired separately.

Intangible assets with a finite life are amortised on  
a straight line basis over their expected useful lives 
as follows:

  Customer relationship – over the expected trade 
life of 3 years

  Trade name – over 5 years

The carrying value of intangible assets are reviewed 
for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate the carrying value may not 
be recoverable.

Impairment testing of tangible and 
intangible assets excluding goodwill

At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews 
the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible 
assets to determine whether there is any indication 
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. 
If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable 
amount is estimated.

The recoverable amount of an asset is the 
greater of its net selling price and its value in use. 
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash 
flows are discounted to their present value using a 
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the 
risks specific to the asset. Where the asset does not 
generate cash flows that are largely independent 
from other assets, the recoverable amount is 
assessed by reference to the cash generating unit to 
which the asset belongs.

Whenever the carrying amount of an asset, or 
its cash generating unit, exceeds its recoverable 
amount, an impairment loss is recognised as an 
expense in the income statement. Where the 
asset has been carried at a revalued amount, the 
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of a subsidiary 
represents the excess of the cost of acquisition 
over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of 
the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent 

At 31 December 2008
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the standard have been applied retrospectively to 
all the options granted after 7 November 2002 that 
were not yet vested as at 1 January 2005.
The fair value of options granted is recognised as an 
employee expense with a corresponding increase in 
equity. The fair value is measured at grant date and 
spread over the period during which the employees 
become unconditionally entitled to the options.

Fair value is measured using an options pricing 
model, taking into account the terms and conditions 
upon which the options were granted. The amount 
recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the 
actual number of share options that vest except 
where variations are due only to share prices not 
achieving the threshold for vesting.

In accordance with IFRIC11, the fair value 
of the options is pushed down to the employing 
subsidiaries’ income statements, with the net 
charge for the period being treated as an additional 
investment within the Company.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Company has 
a present obligation as a result of a past event, and 
it is probable that the Company will be required to 
settle that obligation. Provisions are measured at the 
directors’ best estimate of the expenditure.

3.  Revenue and  
segmental information

Revenue represents net trading results (including 
interest earned), rebates received, foreign exchange 
gains and losses and management services 
supplied by the Group. Revenue is attributable to 
the provision of spread betting, foreign exchange 
service, derivatives brokering and futures betting, 
of which £29,199,000 (2007: £18,980,000) arose 
in the United Kingdom and £375,000 (2007: £nil) 
arose in Europe. All of the segment revenue reported 
above is from external customers and is not subject 
to seasonal or cyclical factors. 

Business segments

For management purposes, the Group is currently 
organised into four operating divisions which reflect 
the Group’s different product offerings. These 
divisions are the basis on which the Group reports 
its primary segment information as they reflect the 
respective rates of return and risks associated with 
each offering.

Principal activities are as follows:

 Spread betting 
 Forex
 Brokerage
 Futures betting (as from 23 May 2008)

At 31 December 2008
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3. Revenue and segmental information (continued)

2008

Spread 
betting

£’000
Forex
£’000

Brokerage
£’000

Futures
£’000

Total
£’000

Revenue

Gross external revenue 24,363 5,203 1,296 375 31,237

Spread betting brokerage and hedging costs (2,595) - - - (2,595)

Net segmental revenue 21,768 5,203 1,296 375 28,642

Foreign exchange gain on trading 932

Net revenue 29,574

Result

Segmental operating profit 16,464 2,358 367 (626) 18,563

Unallocated corporate expenses (7,418)

Operating profit 11,145

Net financing income 401

Profit before taxation 11,546

Taxation expense (3,398)

Profit for the period 8,148

Other information

Capital additions 986 191 - 25

Depreciation and amortisation 478 27 5 49

Balance sheet

Segmental assets 31,994 21,315 1,222 6,031 60,562

Unallocated corporate assets 15,408

Consolidated total assets 75,970

Segmental liabilities 21,256 20,492 - 3,900 45,648

Unallocated corporate liabilities 4,688

Consolidated total liabilities 50,336



3. Revenue and segmental information (continued)

2007

Spread 
betting

£’000
Forex
£’000

Brokerage
£’000

Futures
£’000

Total
£’000

Revenue

Gross external revenue 16,162 3,943 1,080 - 21,185

Spread betting brokerage and hedging costs (2,207) - 2 - (2,205)

Net segmental revenue 13,955 3,943 1,082 - 18,980

Foreign exchange gain on trading -

Net revenue 18,980

Result

Segmental operating profit 12,080 1,637 401 - 14,118

Unallocated corporate expenses (5,678)

Operating profit 8,440

Net financing income 134

Profit before taxation 8,574

Taxation expense (2,566)

Profit for the period 6,008

Other information

Capital additions 955 - - -

Depreciation and amortisation 214 7 5 -

Balance sheet

Segmental assets 20,991 22,323 1,197 - 44,511

Unallocated corporate assets 15,402

Consolidated total assets 59,913

Segmental liabilities 17,740 19,028 166 - 36,934

Unallocated corporate liabilities 4,044

Consolidated total liabilities 40,978

4. Adjusted profit before tax, adjusted operating profit and adjusted EBITDA

2008
£’000

2007
£’000

Reported profit before tax 11,546 8,574

Add back – share based payment charge 1,007 737

Adjusted profit before tax 12,553 9,311

Tax as reported 3,398 2,566

Tax effect on add backs 282 221

Adjusted profit after tax 8,873 6,524

Reported operating profit 11,145 8,440

Add back – share based payment charge 1,007 737

Adjusted operating profit 12,152 9,177

Add back – other amortisation and depreciation 1,149 434

Adjusted EBITDA 13,301 9,611

At 31 December 2008
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5. Profit before tax

Profit before tax is stated after charging/(crediting):

2008 2007

£’000 £’000

Equity-settled share-based payments 1,007 737

Depreciation of owned fixed assets 338 434

Amortisation on intangible assets - software 766 -

Amortisation on intangible assets - other 45 -

Auditor’s remuneration: 
- for the audit of Group’s annual accounts 70 55

- other services - 10

Operating lease costs:

- land and buildings 144 125

Net (profit)/loss on foreign currency translation (932) 74

All the above are included within administration costs apart from the net profit on foreign currency translation 
for the year ended 31 December 2008, which is included in current year’s Revenue. Auditor’s remuneration for 
other services in 2007 related primarily to taxation.

6. Staff costs

The average number of employees in the Group during the financial year amounted to: 

2008 
No.

2007 
No.

Number of administrative staff 48 42

The aggregate staff costs for the year including directors were as follows:

2008
£’000

2007
£’000

Wages and salaries 6,252 3,730

Social security costs 590 302

6,842 4,032

Wages and salaries include the following amounts in respect of performance related bonuses, inclusive of 
national insurance and share-based payments charged to the income statement:

2008
£’000

2007
£’000

Performance related bonuses 1,555 1,279

Equity settled share-based payment schemes 1,007 737

2,562 2,016

The directors’ emoluments for the year ended 31 December 2008 and the comparative year can be found in 
the Directors’ Report on page 23.
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7. Finance revenue

2008
£’000

2007
£’000

Bank interest receivable 401 134

401 134

8. Taxation

(a)  Tax on profit on ordinary activities 
Tax charged in the income statement:

2008
£’000

2007
£’000

Current tax:

Charge for current period 3,576 2,624

Adjustment in respect of prior periods 112 (12)

Total current tax expense 3,688 2,612

Deferred tax:

Origination and reversal of temporary differences (217) (63)

Adjustment in respect of prior periods (83) 17

Adjustment for change in CT rate (30% to 28%) 10 -

Total deferred tax expense (290) (46)

Total tax expense in income statement 3,398 2,566

(b)  Reconciliation of the total tax charge 
The tax expense in the income statement for the year is the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK  
of 28.5% (2007: 30%). The differences are reconciled below:

Accounting profit before taxation 11,546 8,574

Accounting profit multiplied by UK standard rate of corporation tax of 28.5% 3,291 2,572

Expenses not deductible/(deductible) for tax purposes 139 (11)

Non taxable income (28) -

Enhanced deduction for share options on exercise (193) -

Overseas losses not utilised 142 -

Change in CT rate (30% to 28%) 10 -

Other 8 -

Adjustment in respect of prior years 29 5

Total tax expense reported in the income statement 3,398 2,566

At 31 December 2008
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9. Earnings per ordinary share

2008 
£’000

2007
£’000

Basic EPS

Profit after tax 8,148 6,008

Weighted average number of shares 38,465,000 38,292,683

Weighted average basic EPS 21.18p 15.69p

Diluted EPS

Profit after tax 8,148 6,008

Weighted average number of shares 39,983,935 40,343,531

Weighted average fully diluted EPS 20.38p 14.89p

Diluted earnings per share is the basic earnings per share after allowing for the dilutive effect of the 
conversion into Ordinary shares of the weighted average number of options outstanding during the period.

Adjusted basic EPS

Adjusted profit after tax (as per note 4) 8,873 6,524

Weighted average number of shares 38,465,000 38,292,683

Weighted average basic EPS 23.07p 17.04p

10. Dividends

2008 
£’000

2007
£’000

Declared and paid during the year:

Final dividend for 2007 at 5.25p per share (2006 – 1.70p) 2,010 650

Interim dividend for 2008 at 2.5p per share (2007 – 1.25p) 966 479

2,976 1,129

Proposed for approval by shareholders at the AGM:

Final dividend for 2008 at 8.5p per share (2007 – 5.25p) 3,284 2,010
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11. Intangible fixed assets

Group

Customer 
relationship

£’000
Trade Name

£’000
Software

£’000
Goodwill

£’000
Total

£’000 

Cost

At 1 January 2007 - - - 9,303 9,303

Transfers - - 2,879 - 2,879

At 1 January 2008 - - 2,879 9,303 12,182

Additions 152 136 2,474 695 3,457

At 31 December 2008 152 136 5,353 9,998 15,639

Amortisation
At 1 January 2007 - - - - -

Transfers - - 356 - 356

At 1 January 2008 - - 356 - 356

Charge for the year 29 16 766 - 811

At 31 December 2008 29 16 1,122 - 1,167

Net Book Value
At 31 December 2008 123 120 4,231 9,998 14,472

At 31 December 2007 - - 2,523 9,303 11,826 

At 31 December 2006 - - - 9,303 9,303

The goodwill at 1 January 2008 arose from the purchase by Tradex Enterprises Limited of London Capital 
Group Limited during the period ended 31 December 2005. On 23rd May 2008, the Group acquired 100%  
of the share capital of Futuresbetting.com Limited, a company incorporated in Gibraltar, which gave rise to 
the addition to goodwill in the year as well as Customer relationships and Trade names intangible assets 
above (see note 12).

12. Acquisition of subsidiary

On 23rd May 2008, the Group acquired 100% of the share capital of Futuresbetting.com Limited, a company 
incorporated in Gibraltar, for cash consideration of £200,000 and deferred consideration of £300,000.  
This transaction has been accounted for by the purchase method of accounting.

Book Value
£’000

Provisional
Fair Value

£’000

Property, plant and equipment 108 108

Intangible assets - 288

Trade and other receivables 231 231

Cash and cash equivalents 43 43

Trade and other payables (665) (665)

Deferred tax liability - (81)

(283) (76)

Goodwill 695

Total consideration 619

Satisfied by:

Cash 200

Directly attributable costs 119

Deferred consideration 300

619

Net cash outflow arising on acquisition

Cash consideration 319

Cash and cash equivalents acquired (43)

276

The goodwill arising on the acquisition of FuturesBetting.com Limited is attributable to the anticipated 
profitability from the new markets and the anticipated future operating synergies from the combination.

FuturesBettings.com Limited contributed £375,000 revenue and a loss of £579,000 to the Group’s profit 
before tax for the period between the date of acquisition and 31 December 2008.

If the acquisition of FuturesBetting.com Limited had been completed on the first day of the current period, 
Group revenues for the period would have been increased by £223,000 and Group profit attributable to equity 
holders of the parent would have been reduced by £381,000.

At 31 December 2008
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13. Property, plant and equipment

Group

Leasehold 
Property

£’000 

Plant & 
Machinery

£’000 
Equipment

£’000 
Total

£’000 

Cost

At 1 January 2007 339 1,068 472 1,879

Additions 1 1,314 779 2,094

Transfers - (1,628) (1,251) (2,879)

At 1 January 2008  340 754 - 1,094

Acquired as part of acquisition (note 13) - 108 - 108

Additions 170 216 - 386

Disposals - (121) - (121)

At 31 December 2008 510 957 - 1,467

Depreciation

At 1 January 2007 18 206 - 224

Charge for the year 38 297 99 434

Transfers - (257) (99) (356)

At 1 January 2008               56 246 - 302

Charge for the year 87 251 - 338

Disposals - (80) - (80)

At 31 December 2008 143 417 - 560

Net Book Value

At 31 December 2008 367 540 - 907

At 31 December 2007 284 508 - 792

At 31 December 2006 321 862 472 1,655

14. Investments

Company restated (see note 27)
Group companies

£’000

Cost

At 1 January 2007 as previously stated 5,139

Prior period adjustment 541

At 1 January 2007 5,680

Additions 663

At 1 January 2008 6,343

Additions 860

At 31 December 2008 7,203

Net Book Value

At 31 December 2008 7,203

At 31 December 2007 6,343

The prior period adjustments and additions in the year relate to the share based payment movement charged 
in the subsidiary undertakings in accordance with IFRIC 11.

Details of principal investments in which the Company hold 100% of the nominal value of any class of share 
capital are as follows:

Name of Company Principal Activity Country of Incorporation

Tradex Enterprises Limited Holding company England and Wales

London Capital Group Limited* Spread betting England and Wales

Elan Capital Partners Limited* Service Company Gibraltar

Furturesbetting.com* Spread betting Gibraltar

Furturesbetting.com Limited* Dormant England and Wales

Capital Spreads Limited* Dormant England and Wales

Capital Forex Limited* Dormant England and Wales

Capital Equities Limited* Dormant England and Wales

Capital Global Derivatives Limited* Dormant England and Wales

Capital Investment Management limited* Dormant England and Wales

* These companies are owned indirectly via a subsidiary undertaking.

At 31 December 2008
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Goodwill has been allocated for impairment testing 
purposes to two cash generating unit (CGU). 
Goodwill arising on the purchase of London Capital 
Group Limited by Tradex Enterprises Limited in 
May 2005 has been allocated to the profitability 
of the CGU at that date and goodwill arising from 
the acquisition of Futuresbetting.com has been 
allocated to the results of the CGU at that date.

For the purposes of impairment testing of 
goodwill the carrying value of the CGU’s (including 
goodwill) are compared to the recoverable amount 
of the CGU’s and any deficits are provided. The 
carrying value of the CGU’s includes only those 
assets that can be attributed directly, or allocated 
on a reasonable and consistent basis in accordance 
with the segmental disclosure.

The recoverable amount of a CGU is determined 
based on value-in-use calculations. These 
calculations use pre-tax cash flow projections 
based on three year financial budgets approved by 
management. Cash flows beyond the three year 
period are extrapolated using the estimated growth 
rates stated below.

The key assumptions used for value-in-use 
calculations for each CGU are as follows:  

  Growth rate 30% (the growth rate does not 
exceed the long term average growth rate for  
the CGU);

  Discount rate 4.25% (derived from the Group’s 
weighted average cost of capital, with an uplift 
incorporated in respect of Futuresbetting.com);

  client recruitment rates; and
  average revenue per client.

Client recruitment rates and average revenue per 
client were based upon actual amounts measured 
in prior periods which were projected forward in 
accordance with expected trends.

The directors have performed sensitivity analysis 
around the cash flow assumptions and have 
concluded that no reasonably possible change in key 
assumptions would cause the carrying amount of 
the CGU’s to exceed its recoverable amount.

On the basis of the results of the above analysis 
there was no impairment of goodwill during the year.

15. Impairment of goodwill
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16. Deferred taxation

Group Company

2008
£’000

2007
£’000

2008
£’000

2007 restated
note 28

£’000

Deferred taxation asset brought forward 67 43 - -

Current year (credit)/charge 217 46 - -

Adjustments related to prior year 83 - - -

Effect of change in tax rate (30% to 28%) (10) -

Arising from acquisition (80)

Tax (credited)/charged directly to equity 238 (22) - -

Deferred taxation asset carried forward 515 67 - -

17. Trade receivables

Group Company

2008 
£’000 

2007 
£’000 

2008 
£’000 

2007 
£’000 

Amounts due from brokers 209 409 - -

Amounts owed by Group undertakings - - 22,750 13,750

Other debtors 2,185 115 1 1

Prepayments and accrued income 388 572 - -

2,782 1,096 22,751 13,751

18. Cash and cash equivalents

Group Company

2008 
£’000 

2007 
£’000 

2008 
£’000 

2007 
£’000 

Cash at bank and in hand 2,659 454 - -

Short-term deposits 9,977 9,865 - -

Client money held 44,658 35,813 - -

57,294 46,132 - -

19. Trade payables

Group Company

2008 
£’000 

2007 
£’000 

2008 
£’000 

2007 
£’000 

Amounts due to forex clients 20,441 19,028 - -

Amounts due to spread betting clients 24,217 16,785 - -

44,658 35,813 - -

20. Other payables

Group Company

2008 
£’000 

2007 
£’000 

2008 
£’000 

2007 
£’000 

Amounts due on general ledger 57 558 - -

Amounts due to brokers 272 1,121 - -

Amounts owed to Group undertakings - - 5,030 2,226

Other taxes and social security 159 142 - -

Deferred consideration 300 - - -

Other creditors 382 - - -

Accruals 2,566 1,877 - -

3,736 3,698 5,030 2,226

At 31 December 2008
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21. Equity settled share-based payment

The Group has a share option scheme for all 
employees (including directors). Options are 
exercisable at a price equal to the average market 
price of the Company’s shares on the date of grant. 
The vesting period is usually three years. The exercise 
of a number of options is also dependent on certain 
executives meeting specific performance criteria.  
The options are settled in equity once exercised.

If the options remain unexercised after a period 
of 10 years from the date of grant, the options 

expire. Options are forfeited if the employee leaves 
the Group before the options vest. The weighted 
average exercise price (WAEP) of the share options 
outstanding during the year was 196.2pence. The 
share options outstanding at the end of the year 
have a weighted average remaining contractual 
life of 7.9 years (2007 – 8.75 years). The maximum 
number of shares that vest based on the awards 
made are as follows:

Award  
date

Exercise  
price

Expected  
vesting date

At the 
beginning of 

the year

Awarded 
during the 

year

Lapsed/ 
exercised 

during the 
year  

At the 
end of  

the year  

Pence No. No.     No. No.

21 December 2005 82.0 21 December 2008 1,057,899 - - 1,057,899

13 March 2006 82.0 13 March 2009 25,847 - - 25,847

22 June 2006 82.0 22 June 2009 1,148,780 - (344,634) 804,146

21 September 2006 116.5 21 September 2009 95,000 - - 95,000

7 December 2006 142.0 7 December 2009 40,000 - - 40,000

23 March 2007 208.0 23 March 2010 95,000 - (5,000) 90,000

24 May 2007 235.5 24 May 2010 500,000 - - 500,000

8 November 2007 389.8 8 November 2010 775,000 - (25,000) 750,000

23 May 2008 345.0 23 May 2011 - 400,000 - 400,000

Year ended 31 December 2008 3,737,526 400,000 (374,634) 3,762,892

Year ended 31 December 2007 2,632,703 1,375,000 (270,177) 3,737,526

The weighted average fair values of the awards made were as follows:
At the beginning  

of the year
Awarded during  

the year
Lapsed / exercised  

during the year  
At the end of  

the year  

Year ended 31 December 2008 81.85p 99.93p 84.18p 83.55p

Year ended 31 December 2007 81.69p 82.23p 82.21p 81.85p

The Black-Scholes model has been adopted as the directors believe it provides a reasonable approximation to 
the fair values of the options concerned. The inputs into the model were as follows:

21/12/05 13/03/06 22/06/06 20/09/06 06/12/06 23/03/07 24/05/07 08/11/07 23/05/08

Current share price 156.5p 156.5p 156.5p 156.5p 156.5p 208.0p 232.5p 398.5p 360.0p

Expected life 3yrs 3yrs 3yrs 3yrs 3yrs 3yrs 3yrs 3yrs 3yrs

Expected volatility 31% 31% 31% 31% 31% 33% 31% 31% 40%

Risk-free rate 4.75% 4.75% 4.75% 4.75% 4.75% 5.25% 5.50% 5.75% 5.00%

Expected dividends 0.23% 0.23% 0.23% 0.16% 0.16% 4.2% 3.7% 2.2% 3.2%

Expected volatility was determined by calculating 
the historical volatility of the Group’s share price 
over the previous year. The expected life used 
in the model has been adjusted, based on the 
management’s best estimate, for the effects of non-
transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioural 
considerations. Each tranche of share options was 

valued separately using the actual exercise price. 
The Group recognised total expenses of £1,007,000 
(2007: £737,000) related to equity-settled share-
based payment transactions during the year. The 
value of the options that lapsed/exercised during the 
year taken straight to equity was £147,000  
(2007: £74,000).

22. Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s principal financial instruments, other 
than derivative transactions, comprise cash balances 
with brokers, clients and other debtors or creditors 
that arise through the normal course of business, 
other cash and short-term deposits. Derivative 
transactions with brokers are entered into in the 
normal course of business in order to hedge market 
exposures resulting from derivative transactions 
placed by clients.

The Board reviews and agrees policies for 
managing these risks and they are summarised below.

The Group’s computerised trading system 
enables exposure to market risk to be monitored in 
real time and management take action to manage 
these exposures as limits are approached:

Interest rate risk

Financial assets on which no interest is earned 
and financial liabilities on which no interest is paid 
comprise, predominantly, open positions with clients 
and brokers, and have been marked to market in 
accordance with the accounting policy set out in 
note 1. The majority of positions have an expiry 
date, but clients are able to close their positions 
with the Group at any time up to the expiry date. 
The directors therefore consider that a maturity 
analysis based on expiry date would not provide 

a meaningful representation as to the maturity of 
open positions and hence no maturity analysis is 
provided. The Group finances its operations through 
retained profits.

Credit risk

The Group monitors credit risk closely and considers 
that its current policies of credit checks meets its 
objectives of managing exposure to credit risk.

The Group has no significant concentrations of 
credit risk. Amounts shown in the balance sheet best 
represent the maximum credit risk exposure in the 
event other parties fail to perform their obligations 
under financial instruments.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to maintain a mixture of 
short facilities to meet foreseeable requirements. 
The key measure used by the Group for managing 
the liquidity risk is the level of working capital. For 
this purpose working capital is the net of all trade 
receivables, cash and cash equivalents and trade 
payables. Working capital at the balance sheet date 
was as follows:

2008
£’000

2007
£’000

Amounts due from brokers 209 409

Cash and cash equivalents 57,294 46,132

57,503 46,541

Trade payables 44,658 35,813

12,845 10,728

At 31 December 2008
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22. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Currency risk

The Group trades in major currencies as principal 
with its clients. Limits on the exposures which the 
Group will accept are set by the Board, and the 
Group has put in place a policy to hedge its exposure 
as necessary with market counterparties. The table 
below shows the Group transactional currency 

exposures at 31 December 2008 that gives rise to 
net currency gains and losses in the profit and loss 
account. Such exposures comprise the monetary 
assets and liabilities of the Group that are not 
denominated in the functional currency.

2008
£’000

2007
£’000

Net monetary assets and liabilities

Functional currency:

Euro 5,855 4,632

US Dollar 2,864 3,204

Other currency 1,027 490

Fair values of financial assets and liabilities

The fair values of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities are as follows:
At 31 December 2008

Book value 
£’000

Fair value 
£’000

Primary financial instruments held or issued to finance the Group companies

Financial assets 57,294 57,294

Financial liabilities 44,658 44,658

At 31 December 2007

Book value 
£’000

Fair value 
£’000

Primary financial instruments held or issued to finance the Group companies

Financial assets 46,132 46,132

Financial liabilities 35,813 35,813

Hedging activities 

Although the Group business is increasingly a two-
way market, there is often a net customer position 
in many of the quoted contracts. When these net 
positions reach a pre-determined level, such that the 
Group considers the risk to be above set parameters, 
the Group will then hedge its exposure in the market.

Every market quoted by the spread betting 
division of the Company has its individual limits. 
The Group systems allow it to continually monitor 
its exposure against these limits. The Group also 

operates risk parameters such that, for example, if 
in any in one day the Group reaches its loss limit, 
its dealers will then hedge all client positions for the 
remainder of that day. All these permissible limits are 
liable to variation as and when the directors consider 
that the financial position of the Group justifies the 
increased risk. Changes to the hedging policy require 
the approval of the chief operating officer, the chief 
executive and the Group Risk Committee.

23. Commitments under operating leases

At 31 December 2008, the Group had future minimal rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases,  
which fall due as follows:

Group Land and buildings

2008 
£’000 

2007 
£’000 

Operating leases which expire:

No later than one year 216 108

Within two to five years 217 216

Total 433 324

24. Related party transactions

No transactions with related parties were undertaken such as are required to be disclosed under IAS 24.

25. Share capital

Authorised share capital:
2008 

£’000 
2007 

£’000 

55,000,000 ordinary shares of £0.10 each 5,500 5,500

Allotted, called up and fully paid:
2008  2007  

Equity shares No. £’000 No. £’000 

Ordinary shares of £0.10 each 38,637,317 3,864 38,292,683 3,829

The increase in the issued share capital is due to the options exercised during the year.

At 31 December 2008
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26. Reserves

Share premium

The share premium arose from share issue in 
connection with the flotation of the Company.

Share-based payment

This relates to the estimated cost of equity settled 
share options based on a straight-line basis over the 
vesting period, adjusted for those options forfeited  
in the period.

Other reserves

The other reserves arose as a result of the business 
combination concerning the acquisition of Tradex 
Enterprises using the merger method. As mentioned 
in the accounting policies, the Group has taken 
advantage of the optional exemption permitted by 
IFRS 1 to not restate this business combination.

Retained Earnings

Includes a credit for the excess of the tax deduction 
for the equity settled share based payments as well 
as the net adjustment for those options forfeited in 
the period.

27. Prior period adjustment

Due to the adoption of IFRIC 11, the balance sheet 
for the Company has been restated to reflect the 
treatment of the IFRS 2 charge being accounted for 
within the subsidiaries. The effect of this change as 
at 1 January 2008 has been to increase the retained 
earnings by £843,000, non-current assets via 
investments by £1,204,000 and decrease deferred 
tax asset by £361,000. The consolidated position 
has not changed.

58 Notes to the Financial Statements

Ordinary Business

1.  To receive the report of the directors and the 
audited financial statements for the period  
ended 31 December 2008;

2.  To declare a dividend;

3.  To re-appoint Frank Chapman as a director of  
the Company;

4.  To re-appoint Raj Gandhi as a director of  
the Company;

5.  To re-appoint Deloitte LLP as the Company’s 
auditors and to authorise the directors to 
determine their remuneration;

6.  To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the 
following resolution which will be proposed as an  
Ordinary Resolution:

THAT the directors of the Company be and are 
hereby generally and unconditionally authorised, 
pursuant to and in accordance with Section 80 of 
the Companies Act 1985 (“the Act”) to exercise 
all the powers of the Company to allot relevant 
securities (within the meaning of section 80(2) of 
the Act) up to an aggregate amount of £1,636,268, 
provided that this authority shall expire (unless 
previously renewed, varied or revoked by the 
Company in general meeting) on the earlier of 

15 months after the date of the passing of this 
resolution or at the conclusion of the Company’s 
next Annual General Meeting following the passing 
of this resolution but the Company may before such 
expiry make an offer or agreement which would or 
might require relevant securities to be allotted after 
such expiry and the directors of the Company may 
allot relevant securities in pursuance of any such 
offer or agreement as if the authority conferred 
hereby had not expired and provided further 
that the authority hereby conferred shall be in 
substitution for, and to the exclusion of, the existing 
authority conferred upon the directors on 23 April 
2008 to the extent unused.

7.  To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the 
following resolution which will be proposed as a 
Special Resolution:

THAT, subject to and conditional upon the passing 
of Resolution 6 above, the directors of the Company 
be and hereby are empowered pursuant to section 
95 of the Companies Act 1985 (“the Act”) to allot 
equity securities (within the meaning of section 94 
of the Act) for cash and/or to sell or transfer shares 
held by the Company in treasury (as the directors 
shall deem appropriate) pursuant to the authority 
conferred on them under section 80 of the Act by 
Resolution 8 above as if section 89(1) of the Act did 
not apply under any such allotment provided that 
this power shall be limited:

Notice of Annual General Meeting
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting of London Capital 
Group Holdings plc will be held at 12 Appold Street, London EC2A 2AW on 
Wednesday 22 April 2009 at 11am for the following purposes:
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(a)  to the allotment of equity securities in 
connection with any rights issue or other pro-rata 
offer in favour of the holders of ordinary shares 
of 10p each in the Company where the equity 
securities respectively attributable to the interests 
of all such holders of shares are proportionate (as 
nearly as may be) to the respective numbers of 
shares held by them, provided that the directors 
of the Company may make such arrangements 
in respect of overseas holders of shares and/or to 
deal with fractional entitlements as they consider 
necessary or convenient; and

(b)  to the allotment (otherwise than pursuant to 
sub-paragraph (a) above) of equity securities 
and/or the sale or transfer of shares held by 
the Company in treasury (as the directors shall 
deem appropriate) up to an aggregate nominal 
amount of £193,186.

and this authority shall expire at the conclusion 
of the Company’s next Annual General Meeting 
or 15 months after the date of the passing of this 
resolution, whichever first occurs provided that the 
Company may before such expiry make offers or 
agreements which would or might require equity 
securities to be allotted after such expiry and the 

directors of the Company may allot equity securities 
in pursuance of such offers or agreements as if 
the power conferred hereby had not expired and 
provided further that the authority hereby conferred 
shall be in substitution for, and to the exclusion of, 
the existing authority conferred on the directors on 
23 April 2008 to the extent unused.

Special Business

8  To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the 
following resolution which will be proposed as a 
Special Resolution:

THAT with effect from the conclusion of the Annual 
General Meeting, the Articles of Association of the 
Company be and are hereby altered by making the 
amendments summarised in the Appendix following 
this Notice and contained in the printed copy of the 
proposed amended Articles of Association produced 
to the meeting and initialled by the Chairman for 
the purposes of identification.

By order of the Board

Peter Dawes, Secretary 
20 March 2009
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1.  A member entitled to attend and vote at the 
meeting may appoint one or more proxies to 
attend and, on a poll, to vote instead of him.  
A proxy need not be a member of the Company. 
A form of proxy is attached and its acceptance 
is subject to the conditions printed thereon; the 
form, together with the power of attorney or 
other authority (if any) under which it is signed 
or a duly certified copy of such authority, must be 
lodged at the office of the Company’s registrars 
not less than 48 hours before the time appointed 
for the holding of the meeting.

2.  Under Regulation 41 of the Uncertified Securities 
Regulations 2001, only shareholders included 
in the register of members of the Company at 
11am on 20 April 2009 (or, in the event of an 
adjournment, 11am on the date which is 48 
hours before the time of the adjourned meeting) 
are entitled to attend or vote at the meeting in 
respect of the shares registered in their names 
at that time. Changes to entries on the register 
after the relevant deadline shall be disregarded in 
determining the rights of any person to attend or 
vote at the meeting (or adjourned meeting).

3.  The following documents will be available for 
inspection at the Company’s registered office 
during normal business hours on any weekday 
(Saturdays, Sundays and English public holidays 
excluded) from the date of this Notice until the 
date of the meeting and at the place of the 
meeting from 10.45am on 22 April 2009 until its 
conclusion: (a) the register of directors’ interests 
in the capital of the Company, (b) copies of 
the directors’ contracts of service, (c) a copy of 
the proposed new articles of association of the 
Company and a copy of the existing articles 
marked to show the changes  being proposed  
in Resolution 8.

4.  To appoint a proxy or to give or amend an 
instruction to a previously appointed proxy via 
the CREST system, the CREST message must be 
received by the issuer’s agent RA10 by 11am 
on Monday 20 April 2009. For this purpose, the 
time of receipt will be taken to be the time (as 
determined by the timestamp applied to the 
message by the CREST Applications Host) from 
which the issuer’s agent is able to retrieve the 
message.  After this time any change to the 
instructions to a proxy appointed through CREST 
should be communicated to the proxy by other 
means. CREST Personal Members or other CREST 
sponsored members, and those CREST Members 
who have appointed voting service provider(s) 
should contact their CREST sponsor or voting 
service provider(s) for assistance with appointing 
proxies via CREST. For further information on 
CREST procedures, limitations and system timings, 
please refer to the CREST Manual. We may treat 
as invalid a proxy appointment sent by CREST in 
the circumstances set out in Regulation 35(5)(a) 
of the Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001. 
In any case, your proxy form must be received by 
the Company’s registrars no later than 11am on 
Monday 20 April 2009.

Notes:



The Companies Act 2006 also allows the articles of 
association to contain other provisions for dealing 
with directors’ conflicts of interest to avoid a breach 
of duty. The New Articles give the directors the 
ability to authorise such situations and to include 
other provisions to allow conflicts of interest to be 
dealt with in a similar way to the current position.

There are safeguards which will apply when 
directors decide whether to authorise a conflict 
or potential conflict. First, only directors who have 
no interest in the matter being considered will be 
able to take the relevant decision and second, in 
taking the decision, the directors must act in a way 
they consider, in good faith, will be most likely to 
promote the Company’s success. The directors will 
be able to impose limits or conditions when giving 
authorisation if they think this is appropriate.

It is also proposed that the New Articles 
should contain provisions relating to confidential 
information, attendance at Board meetings and 
the availability of Board papers to protect a director 
being in breach of duty if a conflict of interest or 
potential conflict of interest arises. These provisions 
will apply only where the position giving rise to the 
potential conflict has previously been authorised 
by the directors. The Board proposes to report 
annually on the Company’s procedures for ensuring 
that the Board’s powers to authorise conflicts are 
operated effectively.

7. Notice of Board Meetings

The current provisions have been altered so that a 
director who is abroad can request that he receives 
notice electronically as well as or in preference to it 
being sent to a nominated UK address.

8. Electronic Communications

New provisions have been inserted which allow the 
Company to take advantage of provisions in the 
Companies Act 2006 to enable it to agree with 
members that they may receive and send certain 
communications by electronic means.

9. Distribution of Assets otherwise than in Cash.

The Current Articles contain provisions dealing 
with the distribution of assets in kind in the event 
of the Company going into liquidation. These 
provisions have been removed in the New Articles 
on the grounds that a provision about the powers of 
liquidators is a matter for insolvency law rather than 
the articles and that the Insolvency Act 1986 confers 
powers on the liquidator which would enable it to do 
what is envisaged by the Current Articles.

10.  Directors’ Indemnities and Loans  
to fund Expenditure

The Companies Act 2006 has in some areas 
widened the scope of the powers of a company to 
indemnify directors and to fund expenditure incurred 
in connection with certain actions against directors. 
In particular, a company that is a trustee of an 
occupational pension scheme can now indemnify 
a director against liability incurred in connection 
with the company’s activities as trustee of the 
scheme. In addition, the existing exemption allowing 
a company to provide money for the purpose of 
funding a director’s defence in court proceedings 
now expressly covers regulatory proceedings and 
applies to associated companies.

1. Articles which duplicate statutory provisions

Provisions in the Current Articles which replicate 
provisions contained in the Companies Act 2006 
are in the main amended to bring them into line 
with the Companies Act 2006. Examples of such 
provisions include those relating to the form of 
resolutions and the period of notice required to 
convene general meetings. The main changes  
made to reflect this approach are set out below.

2. Form of Resolution

The Current Articles provide that, where for any 
purpose an ordinary resolution is required, a 
special or extraordinary resolution is also effective 
and that, where an extraordinary resolution is 
required, a special resolution is also effective. This 
provision is being amended because the concept 
of extraordinary resolutions has been abolished by 
the Companies Act 2006. Therefore, all references 
in the Current Articles to extraordinary resolutions 
have been altered in the New Articles to become 
references to special resolutions.

3.  Convening Extraordinary and  
Annual General Meetings

The provisions in the Current Articles dealing with 
the convening of general meetings and the length 
of notice required to convene general meetings are 
being amended to conform to new provisions in 
the Companies Act 2006. In particular, a general 
meeting other than an Annual General Meeting to 
consider a special resolution can be convened on 
14 days’ notice whereas, previously, 21 days’ notice 
was required.

4. Votes of Members

Under the Companies Act 2006, proxies are 
entitled to vote on a show of hands whereas under 
the Current Articles proxies are entitled to vote 
only on a poll. Multiple proxies may be appointed 
provided that each proxy is appointed to exercise 
the rights attached to a different share held by 
the shareholder. Proxies may also be deposited 
electronically. The New Articles reflect these 
altered provisions.

5. Age of Directors on Appointment

The Current Articles contain a provision requiring 
a director’s age to be disclosed if he has attained 
the age of 70 years or more in the notice 
convening a meeting at which the director 
is proposed to be elected or re-elected. Such 
provision could now fall foul of the Employment 
Equality (Age) Regulations 2006 and so has been 
removed from the New Articles.

6. Conflicts of Interest

The Companies Act 2006 sets out directors’ general 
duties and these largely codify the existing law. A 
director must now avoid a situation where he has, or 
can have, a direct or indirect interest that conflicts, or 
possibly may conflict, with the Company’s interests. 
The requirement is very broad and could apply, for 
example, if a director becomes a director of another 
Company or a trustee of another organisation. 
The Companies Act 2006 allows directors of public 
companies to authorise conflicts and potential 
conflicts, where appropriate, where the articles of 
association contain a provision to this effect. 

Explanatory note on the principal changes 
to the Company’s Articles of Association
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I would like to thank all our employees for 
their commitment and professionalism 
during a period of considerable growth 
and development.
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Frank Chapman, Chief Executive Officer

NOTES:

 1. A proxy need not be a member of the company.
 2.  Please indicate with an ‘X’ in the appropriate boxes above how you wish 

your votes to be cast. Unless otherwise instructed the proxy may vote or 
abstain from voting as he or she thinks fit.The ‘Vote Withheld’ option is 
provided to enable you to abstain on any particular resolution: this is not a 
vote in law and will not be counted in the calculation of the proportion of 
votes ‘For’ and ‘Against’ a resolution.

 3.  To be effective this proxy form must be deposited with Capita Registrars 
(Proxies), P.O.Box 25, The Registry, 34 Beckenham Road, Beckenham, Kent 
BR3 4TU, not less than 48 hours before the time fixed for the meeting.

 4.  The proxy form must be signed by the member or the member’s attorney 
duly authorised in writing or, if the member is a corporation, it must be 
either under its common seal or signed on its behalf by an attorney or 
officer duly authorised whose capacity should be stated.

 5.  In the case of joint members the vote of the senior joint member who 
signs a proxy form will be accepted to the exclusion of others, seniority 
being determined by the order of names in the register.

 6.  If you wish to appoint someone other than the Chairman as your proxy, 
delete “the Chairman of the meeting (or)” and insert the name of your 
proxy in the box provided.

 7.  If the proxy is being appointed in relation to less than your full voting 
entitlement, please enter in the box next to the proxy holder’s name the 
number of shares in relation to which they are authorised to act as your proxy. 
If left blank, your proxy will be deemed to be authorised in respect of your full 
voting entitlement (or if this proxy form relates to a designated account for a 
shareholder, the full voting entitlement of that designated account).

 8.  To appoint additional proxies, this form may be photocopied or additional 
copies obtained from the Registrar. On each form, please indicate in the 
box next to the proxy holder’s name the number of shares in relation to 
which they are authorised to act as your proxy and ensure that each form 
bears an original signature.

 9.  Completion and return of a proxy form will not preclude you from 
attending and voting in person at the meeting should you subsequently 
decide to do so.

 10. Any alteration made to this proxy form should be initialled.
 11.  Shares held in uncertificated form (ie in CREST) may be voted through the 

CREST Proxy Voting Service in accordance with the procedures set out in 
the CREST Manual.

* Please tick here if the proxy appointment is one of multiple appointments being made and state in  
the box above the number of shares to which this proxy relates. Also, see Note 7 below.

FULL NAMES 
(in block letters)

ADDRESS

 POSTCODE

SIGNATURE DATE

Proxy form
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I/We, being (a) holder(s) of ordinary shares in London Capital Group Holdings plc hereby appoint the 
Chairman of the meeting or the following person:

 Name      Number of Shares*

as my/our proxy to attend, speak and vote for me/us on my/our behalf in respect of my/our voting 
entitlement* at the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held on Wednesday 22 April 2009  
and at any adjournment thereof and in particular, in respect of the undermentioned resolutions referred  
to in the Notice of the Annual General Meeting dated 20 March 2009, to vote:

RESOLUTION For Against Vote  
Withheld

ORDINARY BUSINESS

1. Receive the report and accounts

2. Declare a dividend

3. Re-appoint Frank Chapman as a director

4. Re-appoint Raj Gandhi as a director

5. Auditors’ re-appointment and remuneration

6.  Authority to allot relevant securities pursuant to  
section 80 Companies Act 1985

7. Disapplication of section 89(1) Companies Act 1985

SPECIAL BUSINESS

8. Alterations to the Articles of Association



SECOND FOLD

THIRD FOLD AND TUCK IN

Company Secretary

Peter Dawes

Registered and Principal Office

12 Appold Street 
London  EC2A 2AW

Tel: +44(0)20 7456 7000 
londoncapitalgroup.com

Registered Number

5497744

Adviser and Broker

Cenkos Securities plc 
6.7.8 Tokenhouse Yard 
London  EC2R 7AS

Auditors

Deloitte LLP 
Abbots House, Abbey Street 
Reading  RG1 3BD

Registrar

Capita Registrars 
Northern House, Woodsome Park 
Fenay Bridge, Huddersfield 
West Yorkshire  HD8 0LA

Tel:  (UK) 0870 162 3131 
(Overseas) +44(0)20 8639 3131

shareholder.services@capitaregistrars.com

Financial and Corporate PR

Smithfield Consultants Ltd 
10 Aldersgate Street 
London  EC1A 4HJ

Officers and Advisers
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BUSINESS REPLy SERVICE
Licence No. MB122

Capita Registrars (PROXIES)
P.O. BOX 25
BECKENHMAM
KENT
BR3 4BR



London Capital Group Holdings plc
12 Appold Street 

London EC2A 2AW
Tel: +44 (0)20 7456 7000 
Fax: +44 (0)20 7456 7013

londoncapitalgroup.com


